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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to

          3  today's Finance Committee hearing. I'm going to

          4  introduce my colleagues that are here. In the front

          5  we have Council Member Christine Quinn from

          6  Manhattan, Council Member Latitia James from

          7  Brooklyn, Council Member Oliver Koppell from the

          8  Bronx, Councilman Jim Gennaro from Queens,

          9  Councilman Dennis Gallagher from Queens, Council

         10  Member Tracy Boyland from Brooklyn, Council Member

         11  Robert Jackson from Manhattan, Council Member Leroy

         12  Comrie from Queens, Council Member Bill Perkins from

         13  Manhattan, Council Member Gale Brewer from

         14  Manhattan, Speaker Gifford Miller, who you will hear

         15  from after my opening statement, and Council Member

         16  Lew Fidler, and his assistant, Pari Fidler.

         17                 My name is David Weprin, and I chair

         18  the Finance Committee. Today we will conduct a

         19  second hearing on proposed Intro. No. 584-A, a

         20  proposed local law in relation to payment in lieu of

         21  taxes.

         22                 These payments, or PILOTs, as they

         23  care commonly called, are generally payments made to

         24  the City to reimburse it for lost property taxes,

         25  when an economic development agency is involved in a
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          2  project, and the project is given a tax break.

          3                 As you all know by now, I support the

          4  West Side Stadium. However, this is not a forum on

          5  the Stadium. This is a forum on whether the City

          6  Council should have a say in the PILOT payments and

          7  the proposed legislation.

          8                 As Chairman of the Finance Committee,

          9  I have a hard time supporting the Administration's

         10  position that it can unilaterally give City revenues

         11  in the form of PILOT payments from other projects to

         12  a Local Development Corporation to finance any

         13  matter without first obtaining the authorization of

         14  the Council.

         15                 We have invited the Corporation

         16  Counsel to be our first speaker to discuss the basis

         17  for the City's belief that the Mayor could spend

         18  City revenues without Council authorization.

         19                 The Law Department did not attend the

         20  previous hearing we had, but subsequently sent a

         21  letter stating in part that State Law gives the

         22  Mayor authority to convey personal property of the

         23  City and that this would include the power to convey

         24  the contractual rights to receive PILOT payments.

         25                 As Finance Chair of the City Council,
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          2  I believe this position runs contrary to both State

          3  law and the basic structure of our City's

          4  government. Both State law and the State Comptroller

          5  are clear that PILOT payments are City revenues.

          6                 The Charter says City revenues must

          7  go into the General Fund and can only be spent

          8  pursuant to appropriation or specific legal

          9  authorization.

         10                 If the Mayor could give away future

         11  contractual revenue streams without Council

         12  authorization, he could potentially set up his own

         13  budget process where City revenues never make it

         14  into the general fund because they have been

         15  committed to fund the Mayor's own priorities.

         16                 For example, this year the City is to

         17  receive over 900 million in lease payments, over 200

         18  million in franchise payments, and over 70 million

         19  from the sale of tax liens.

         20                 Does this mean that the Mayor could

         21  take 1.2 billion in City revenues out of the budget

         22  process to spend as he sees fit?

         23                 I do not believe the Charter gives

         24  the executive power to unilaterally spend money

         25  outside of the budget process, and this proposed
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          2  local law would codify and reaffirm that.

          3                 In addition, the proposed local law

          4  would also require monthly reports on the

          5  collection, deposit and use of PILOT payments in an

          6  attempt to create transparency in an area where

          7  there has been far too little up to now.

          8                 Budget Director Mark Page responded

          9  that he would have no problem with providing the

         10  Council with a list of all the PILOTs being made to

         11  the City and the uses to which these funds are being

         12  put.

         13                 Thus far we have received a list of

         14  the PILOTs that have been spent on other projects,

         15  but we have yet to receive an accounting of an

         16  entire universe of pilots.

         17                 I'm glad the Administration agrees

         18  with the goal of the legislation to provide more

         19  transparency in this area, and I look forward to

         20  receiving the accounting of all the PILOTs.

         21                 I am glad the Corporation Counsel is

         22  here today so that we can discuss this very

         23  important legal and government issue.

         24                 Before we hear from the Corporation

         25  Counsel, I'm going to call upon the Speaker of the
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          2  City Council, Gifford Miller, for a statement.

          3                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Quiet please.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I know there is a

          5  lot of emotion in the room, but this is not a

          6  hearing on the Stadium, and I'm not going to allow

          7  these outbursts one way or another. We're going to

          8  ask the Sergeant-At-Arms to evict individuals that

          9  get out of hand.

         10                 So, please, I respect everybody,

         11  whether you're for the Stadium, against the Stadium,

         12  for the PILOT payments, against the PILOT payments,

         13  to give every speaker here, whether they be a

         14  Council Member or someone from the public, the

         15  proper respect that they deserve.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 Speaker Miller.

         18                 SPEAKER MILLER: I want to thank

         19  Chairman Weprin. I want to thank you all for being

         20  here. You get to say your piece on the steps of City

         21  Hall. Everyone is entitled to yell wherever they

         22  want, but in this body and in this House, you'll

         23  show respect not just to me but to all of the other

         24  members of the Council and to people that are

         25  testifying.
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          2                 I want to thank everybody for being

          3  here. This is an important subject. Following our

          4  last hearing, the Corporation Counsel said that the

          5  Mayor has the contractual rights to spend pilots as

          6  he sees fit, and we're going to hear from the

          7  Corporation Counsel here today.  We'll give him an

          8  opportunity to make his case.

          9                 But I believe that the Mayor has to

         10  realize that he's no longer an independent CEO of a

         11  privately-held corporation, and that the way

         12  government works in this City is that the Mayor

         13  spends the money and the Council votes to

         14  appropriate it. And it is a very dangerous road for

         15  us to go down for a project, whether it's worthy or

         16  not, for the Mayor to say that he believes that this

         17  slush fund, which by application could ultimately

         18  reach enormous sums of money, because understand how

         19  it works, the Mayor, through the Economic

         20  Development Corporation, is the one who negotiates

         21  PILOTs, payments in lieu of taxes, if anything has

         22  any kind of an economic development aspect to it, he

         23  can go to a business and say, instead of paying

         24  property taxes, or whatever, pay payments in lieu of

         25  taxes. And then by the Mayor's application, once he
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          2  negotiates a new payment in lieu of tax, he can do

          3  whatever he wants with it, without it having to go

          4  before the full Legislature, without having to go

          5  before a public review, except for of a board that

          6  he controls.

          7                 That's wrong. It's wrong on a policy

          8  level, and it's wrong on this level. And in

          9  particular, I think it's wrong because this choice

         10  is the wrong choice for the City. I'm not supportive

         11  of the Stadium. If you look at the total taxpayer

         12  subsidy, which is basically about a billion and a

         13  half dollars, we ought to be investing in schools.

         14  Which by the way would create a lot of construction

         15  jobs. We ought to be investing in housing. We ought

         16  to be investing in subways. We ought to be investing

         17  in things that really are important to this City,

         18  and not in a football stadium, which isn't, and if

         19  it was such a good idea the Mayor would be putting

         20  it to a vote.

         21                 But this question goes beyond the

         22  question of the Stadium. This question goes to the

         23  heart of whether or not we're going to have a real

         24  representative democracy in which representatives

         25  vote on billions of dollars worth of public funding
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          2  with public dollars.

          3                 And, so, I'm glad we're going to hear

          4  from the Corporation Counsel. I'm glad we're going

          5  to hear from others, and I thank all my colleagues

          6  for being here, for their support for this

          7  legislation, because today there are 34 sponsors of

          8  this legislation. That creates enough sponsors to

          9  override any mayoral veto, and we will make sure

         10  that this becomes law.

         11                 Thank you all very much for being

         12  here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Speaker.

         15                 We have been joined by Council Member

         16  Simcha Felder from Brooklyn.

         17                 We will now hear from the Corporation

         18  Counsel. Mr. Cardozo.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Thank you.

         20                 Mr. Speaker, Chairman Weprin, members

         21  of the Finance Committee, good afternoon. My

         22  discussion here today will be limited to the

         23  proposed legislation, Intro. 584-A, not about the

         24  financing arrangement of the Hudson Yards.

         25                 I have prepared some brief remarks
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          2  about Intro. 584-A, after which I will be happy to

          3  take your questions.

          4                 But before beginning, I want to

          5  emphasize that my statements here today are not the

          6  equivalent of a legal brief. A discussion of the law

          7  in a forum such as this can be no more than a

          8  summary of complex legal issues.

          9                 While the Law Department generally

         10  does not testify at hearings on the legality of a

         11  proposed law, and believes its arguments in this

         12  regard should be made only in a judicial forum,

         13  should the law be challenged, we have agreed to

         14  testify here today on the understanding that this

         15  will not be viewed as a precedent for the future.

         16                 The proposed local law would prohibit

         17  all City funds, including but not limited to PILOTs,

         18  from being expended without an appropriation by the

         19  Council or other specific legal authorization in

         20  accordance with the Charter of the City of New York.

         21                 The bill contains legislative

         22  findings outlining the argument that it is unlawful

         23  for the Mayor to direct the use of PILOT payments on

         24  behalf of the City.

         25                 These legislative findings are based
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          2  on a misunderstanding of the governing State and

          3  local laws. Both State law and the City Charter, as

          4  I will explain, empower that a Mayor to act on

          5  behalf of the City when the Mayor directs the use of

          6  PILOTs for the City's benefit.

          7                 The enactment of Intro. 584 therefore

          8  would be contrary to the Mayor's powers under State

          9  law and an impermissible curtailment of the Mayor's

         10  powers under the City Charter.

         11                 As you know, the Mayor's Charter

         12  powers cannot be altered without a referendum, and

         13  the powers granted to the Mayor by State law cannot

         14  be changed without State legislation.

         15                 In general, real property under the

         16  control of State entities, including industrial

         17  development agencies, or IDAs, is exempt from real

         18  property taxation.

         19                 Instead, property owners wishing to

         20  develop such property may be required by the State

         21  entities to make payments in lieu of taxes, commonly

         22  known as PILOTs, as part of their agreements with

         23  the IDAs.

         24                 By exempting property from real

         25  property taxation and, when appropriate,
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          2  substituting the reduced PILOT schedule, IDAs spur

          3  economic development.

          4                 In the case of New York City, the New

          5  York City Industrial Development Agency, the NYCIDA,

          6  enters into economic development arrangements with

          7  developers throughout the five boroughs which may

          8  provide, among other things, for the developers to

          9  pay PILOTs.

         10                 General Municipal Law Section 917,

         11  which establishes the NYCIDA, treats the NYCIDA

         12  differently from IDAs in other jurisdictions.

         13                 Notably, the statute makes clear that

         14  the Mayor is responsible for interacting with the

         15  NYCIDA on behalf of the City, and so has the power

         16  to direct the use of PILOTs on the City's behalf.

         17                 While the "governing body" for other

         18  IDAs within the State is defined by the General

         19  Municipal Law as "the board or body in which the

         20  general legislative power of the municipality are

         21  vested," in the case of New York City, the statute

         22  provides that"'governing body'... shall mean the

         23  Mayor of the City of New York."

         24                 Further, the General Municipal Law

         25  gives the Mayor a key role in the appointment of 14

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  members of the 15-member NYCIDA board.

          3                 Another provision of State law,

          4  General City Law Section 20, gives the City the

          5  power to convey non-surplus personal property.

          6                 Agreements to pay and receive PILOTs

          7  are contractual rights, a form of personal property.

          8                 Moreover, it is the Mayor who is

          9  empowered to exercise that right to receive and

         10  dispose of such non-surplus personal property,

         11  including PILOTs.

         12                 Section 8 of the City Charter sets

         13  forth the "reserve power" of the Mayor, which

         14  permits the Mayor to "exercise all the powers vested

         15  in the City, except as otherwise provided by law."

         16                 The New York courts have recognized

         17  that the power to convey personal property on the

         18  City's behalf is not "otherwise provided by law" and

         19  so rests with the Mayor under this reserve power.

         20                 For example, in the Creole

         21  Enterprises case, the appellate division affirmed

         22  that the reserve power justified the City's

         23  disposition through the Mayor alone, of the WNYC

         24  radio stations to the WNYC Foundation several years

         25  ago.
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          2                 The sponsors' apparent basis for

          3  Intro. 584 is the argument that no revenue of the

          4  City may be expended without appropriation.

          5                 This is generally true to the extent

          6  that such monies are "revenues of the City," paid

          7  into the general fund.

          8                 However, as I have explained,

          9  contractual rights to receive PILOTs in the future,

         10  directed by the Mayor pursuant to economic

         11  development agreements, are not "revenues of the

         12  city." They are instead contract rights that can be

         13  transferred or otherwise disposed of by the Mayor.

         14                 As recently as last year, in the $2.5

         15  billion LGAC case that I personally successfully

         16  argued on behalf of the City, before the New York

         17  Court of Appeals, our State's highest court, that

         18  Court ruled that contractual rights to receive a

         19  future revenue stream can be assigned by the Mayor.

         20                 The right to receive PILOT payments

         21  are contract rights, not revenue, and they are

         22  therefore not subject to payment into the general

         23  fund and subsequent appropriation.

         24                 Intro. 584 also appears to rely on

         25  Section 874(3) of the General Municipal Law, which

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  states that PILOTs received by an IDA "shall be

          3  remitted to each affected tax jurisdiction within 30

          4  days of receipt." But that section was added to the

          5  General Municipal Law to address two specific

          6  problems not relevant to New York City:

          7                 1) the withholding from

          8  municipalities by local IDAs of PILOT money for

          9  extended periods of time; and (2) what was seen as a

         10  misallocation of PILOTs by IDAs between affected and

         11  overlapping tax jurisdictions.

         12                 However, unlike the situation of

         13  other localities, where, for example, a county with

         14  an IDA has overlapping taxing jurisdiction with the

         15  local school district, the NYCIDA is unique in that

         16  it shares no jurisdiction with any taxing

         17  jurisdiction other than the City.

         18                 Further, the structure of the NYCIDA

         19  allows the Mayor, through his substantial

         20  representation on the NYCIDA board, to prevent the

         21  NYCIDA from retaining PILOTs for itself rather than

         22  using them for the City's behalf.

         23                 Thus, the problems Section 874(3) was

         24  enacted to address simply do not occur in New York

         25  City, and so are not implicated when the Mayor
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          2  exercises his legal authority to direct the use of

          3  PILOTs on the City's behalf.

          4                 In any event, even if Section 874(3)

          5  could be read to apply to the NYCIDA, that

          6  provisions intent and purposes are fulfilled when

          7  the use of PILOT agreements are directed pursuant to

          8  the instructions of the Mayor on behalf of the City.

          9                 As I have stated, the "governing

         10  body" of New York City with respect to PILOTs is the

         11  Mayor, who is empowered to direct those PILOT

         12  agreements on the City's behalf.

         13                 Indeed a 1992 letter from Mayor

         14  Dinkins to Governor Cuomo concerning the legislation

         15  that added Section 874(3) specifically stated that

         16  the City is "confident that the current agreement

         17  between the City and the NYCIDA, which is the same

         18  agreement that is in effect today, complies with

         19  State law.

         20                 Finally, it should be noted that IDA

         21  PILOTs have been used in this manner, i.e., directed

         22  by the Mayor on the City's behalf, for a variety of

         23  projects as diverse as the Midtown Courthouse, the

         24  In-Place Industrial Park Program and Health Pass

         25  Program, which assists small businesses in providing

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  health insurance to their employees.

          3                 As the 1992 Memorandum of

          4  Understanding that has directed the use of PILOTs in

          5  the City under three different Administrations

          6  states: "This arrangement has operated to the

          7  satisfaction of all parties involved, who wish to

          8  extend it for an indefinite term."

          9                 That concludes my statement. I would

         10  be happy to respond to your questions concerning the

         11  legality of Intro. 584-A.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. The Speaker

         13  had a number of questions.

         14                 Mr. Speaker.

         15                 SPEAKER MILLER: Thank you. Let me

         16  just note, with regard to the final point that you

         17  made, "this arrangement has operated to the

         18  satisfaction of all parties involved who wish to

         19  extend it for an indefinite term," with regard to

         20  that MOU, it's just important I think to note that

         21  there is only one party involved with that MOU,

         22  that's the Mayor talking to the Mayor. It's an MOU

         23  between a board that the Mayor controls, and an

         24  agency that the Mayor appoints; is that not correct?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: The agreement cites that
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          2  it is an agreement between OMB, Finance, the NYCIDA,

          3  the EDC and that's it.

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right. So, that's the

          5  Mayor, the Mayor, the Mayor and the Mayor. So, I

          6  think that precisely pretty much sums up our

          7  problem, that the problem with this proposal is that

          8  it entitles the Mayor to come to an agreement with

          9  the Mayor, in order to spend money that the Mayor

         10  would like to see fit spent on money that the Mayor

         11  then approves. And we don't go through the process,

         12  which as you say generally is true, that revenues

         13  are appropriated by the City Council and by somebody

         14  other than the Mayor.

         15                 Let me just ask a couple of

         16  questions.

         17                 The 1982 State Comptroller's opinion

         18  that states that the IDA payments which are due to a

         19  municipality, are revenues of the municipality and

         20  must be considered as revenue in preparing the

         21  municipality's budget. Are you saying in your

         22  testimony that you feel that that opinion is

         23  consistent with what you said, or are you saying

         24  that subsequent events have overruled it?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: If you look at that
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          2  opinion, Mr. Speaker, that opinion makes very clear

          3  that it was directed to a lease which specifically

          4  provided those particular payments would be paid to

          5  the municipality's general fund. Therefore, that

          6  opinion has nothing to do with the facts and

          7  circumstances that New York City is faced with and

          8  so I think that that opinion has nothing to do with

          9  the issue before us.

         10                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay.

         11                 So, in general what you're saying is

         12  that the Economic Development Corporation can, if

         13  they chose to, direct the monies to the general fund

         14  but don't have to.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: The Memorandum of

         16  Understanding between the various parties I just

         17  recited, provides that if there are PILOT payments

         18  made, the payments will go from the developer to a

         19  trustee, and that the trustee will use those

         20  payments as provided in the particular contract with

         21  any excess monies beyond that paid to the general

         22  fund.

         23                 SPEAKER MILLER: Let me first of all

         24  say that cross examining Michael Cardozo is a fairly

         25  intimidating experience.
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          2                 Let me try to just understand what it

          3  is that you just said, because I didn't follow it

          4  entirely. I only made it two-thirds of the way

          5  through law school. I'm a law school drop out.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: It was a pleasure at an

          7  earlier stage of this Administration when I had the

          8  honor of representing you before the Appellate

          9  Division.

         10                 SPEAKER MILLER: Thank you. And you do

         11  it very well. I'm just trying to understand what it

         12  is that you're saying.

         13                 The Economic Development Corporation

         14  can decide? When the Economic Development

         15  Corporation enters into an agreement with a

         16  developer or anybody else for a payment in lieu of

         17  taxes, you're saying that the Economic Development

         18  Corporation can direct it to the general fund, or

         19  cannot direct it to the general fund?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, start out with the

         21  analysis, under the statute the New York City IDA

         22  can ask, demand PILOT payments from the developer.

         23  It could, under the law, say you don't have to pay

         24  anything. You could pay $5. In fact, in the Creole

         25  case that I mentioned before, the Appellate Division
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          2  held that the sale of the NYC radio station by the

          3  Mayor alone, for what some said was less than full

          4  value, was completely and totally within the Mayor's

          5  power.

          6                 So, we start with a fact that the MOU

          7  that we referred to before says that when the EDC,

          8  or the NYCIDA, enters into an agreement with the

          9  developer, whereby the developer will pay PILOTs in

         10  lieu of taxes, those monies, those PILOT payments

         11  are paid to a trustee.

         12                 The payments by the trustee are paid

         13  in accordance to whatever the particular contract

         14  provision with the developer calls for, and if all

         15  the PILOTs' money at issue is not disposed of, for

         16  whatever, what the contract says, the excess amount

         17  is then in turn paid over to the Department of

         18  Finance.

         19                 SPEAKER MILLER: But that's only

         20  because the Economic Development Corporation agrees

         21  to that. They don't have to is what your testimony

         22  is.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: It's pursuant to

         24  whatever the contract is that EDC enters into --

         25                 SPEAKER MILLER: That EDC enters into.
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: -- And that's totally

          3  consistent with the statute, Section 874 and 917 of

          4  State law, which provides that the NYCIDA and other

          5  IDAs throughout the State can require the payment of

          6  PILOTs in lieu of taxes.

          7                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, in theory then

          8  there's not much of an upper limit to the amount of

          9  money that could end up going through this process

         10  through just the PILOT payment?

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, no. First of all,

         12  it's only going to be money that would be entered

         13  into pursuant by the IDA, only pursuant to the

         14  contracts --

         15                 SPEAKER MILLER: Which is controlled

         16  by the Mayor.

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: Under State law, as I

         18  said, under Section 917, the New York City IDA is,

         19  the governing body is deemed to be the Mayor.

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, in this case, so

         21  basically, in other words, what your testimony is is

         22  that the Mayor can enter into an economic

         23  development agreement with almost anybody to make a

         24  payment in lieu of taxes instead of paying taxes,

         25  and then direct that money wherever it is that the
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          2  Mayor sees fit.

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: The statute says that

          4  the IDA can enter into agreements that would provide

          5  for payment in lieu of taxes.

          6                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: And the governing

          8  statute, as well as the City Charter makes it clear

          9  that that is under the Mayor's control, and the

         10  Mayor, therefore, would have the power to decide how

         11  that particular revenue stream should be assigned.

         12                 SPEAKER MILLER: So that's a yes?

         13  That's all right.

         14                 Let me ask you this question. With

         15  regard to the personal property aspect, I'm trying

         16  to understand with regard to the personal property,

         17  the Mayor's power to convey personal property, and

         18  you're saying contractual revenue streams are

         19  personal property, what makes them more personal

         20  property than let's say just revenue streams, money?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: The Section 20 of the

         22  New York City -- sorry -- the General City Law,

         23  provides that the city, any city, can dispose of

         24  both real and personal property.

         25                 Section 8 of the New York City
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          2  Charter says that when the word "city" appears, it

          3  means Mayor, unless some law provides to the

          4  contrary.

          5                 Therefore, with respect to any

          6  personal property, be it contract right, the right

          7  to receive a revenue stream, which is what happened

          8  --

          9                 SPEAKER MILLER: Or just cash.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: No. A contract right.

         11                 SPEAKER MILLER: So why is a contract

         12  right personal property and cash not personal

         13  property?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, it's well

         15  established that a contract right is a form of

         16  personal property. If it's real estate it would be

         17  real property. And that's exactly what we had in the

         18  LGAC situation where we had a contract right to

         19  receive monies for, I think it was 20 years. And the

         20  Mayor was thereby authorized to assign that right to

         21  receive future revenues as he felt fit, whatever

         22  that situation was.

         23                 SPEAKER MILLER: I think I understand

         24  your analysis on that point. What I'm trying to ask

         25  is, cash is a form of property, right?
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: Cash could be deemed a

          3  form of property, yes.

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: It has to be deemed a

          5  form of property.

          6                 It's not real property, right?

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: It could, Mr. Miller, be

          8  viewed as a form of personal property, but when it

          9  is revenue, when it fits within the definition of

         10  revenue, that's when the Charter provisions take

         11  effect.

         12                 What you have to look at is that the

         13  State Law provisions dealing with IDAs say that the

         14  right to receive this personal property, the right

         15  to receive future money, that's what we're talking

         16  about, because an IDA contract will say they will

         17  pay PILOTs over a certain period of time, that's a

         18  right to receive future property, it is not yet

         19  cash, and that right, that contract right is

         20  something that the Mayor has the power under both

         21  State and City law to assign.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: So once the cash has

         23  arrived from -- so let me ask you this, when the

         24  payment in lieu of taxes is actually made, is that

         25  cash, and is it still personal property?
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: No. When the payment in

          3  lieu of cash is made to the trustee, which is what

          4  happens under here --

          5                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO:-- That is still under

          7  the contract, and that contract says how that money

          8  will be dispersed. That, because it's still a

          9  contract right, and the Mayor, because the contract

         10  has preceded the receipt of the cash, that contract

         11  right has been spelled out how that money will be

         12  disposed of.

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, it's when it's a

         14  right to receive it it's personal property. When it

         15  actually arrives, it remains personal property,

         16  because even though it's cash and we have it, it's

         17  still subject to the right to receive it?

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Because it has already

         19  been assigned. By the time it is received, it has

         20  already been denominated in the contract how that

         21  would be disposed of.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: So the Mayor can --

         23  money that's going to come in, the Mayor can

         24  redirect. But money that has arrived the Mayor can't

         25  redirect.
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: Unless it has already

          3  been directed, yes.

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: I'm sorry, I just

          5  really want to understand it. So, the point here

          6  then is that it's only until the money arrives that

          7  the Mayor has control over it, and once the money

          8  arrives no longer has control over it. It would go

          9  to the Council?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: No.

         11                 SPEAKER MILLER: For them to

         12  appropriate it?

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: No.

         14                 Unless when the money arrives it has

         15  already been determined by a preexisting contract

         16  how that money would be spent.

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, let's ask in the

         18  case of, let's say the Midtown Community Courthouse,

         19  that was money that hadn't arrived yet, and the

         20  Mayor assigns it --

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: That's correct.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: And then he has to

         23  have a specific revenue stream.

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: The money --

         25                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, like the
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          2  $300,000, you chose let's say KeySpan, which is --

          3  forget KeySpan. Widget Company, which is paying a

          4  payment in lieu of tax, then you say $300,000 of

          5  your payment has to go directly --

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: That's what would be in

          7  the contract between the NYCIDA and the Widget

          8  Company, to use your example, at the time that

          9  arrangement is entered into.

         10                 And if that contract said at that

         11  time $300,000 a year of PILOT payments will be spent

         12  for the Midtown Community Court, let's say, that

         13  money would go there and would not go into the

         14  general fund.

         15                 SPEAKER MILLER: So you're probably

         16  the wrong guy to ask this, but I'll ask you anyway,

         17  since you're here on behalf of the Administration.

         18                 Can we get copies of all of these

         19  contracts in which there's been over the last, you

         20  know, two, three and four total of about $22

         21  million, or 23, can we get copies of the contracts

         22  that are redirecting that before the money comes in?

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: I think, as I understand

         24  it, and I wasn't here to question, I think you also

         25  asked of Mr. Page, and I'd have to check into that.
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          2                 SPEAKER MILLER: If you could forward

          3  it to whoever it is that's appropriate in the

          4  Administration for us.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

          6                 SPEAKER MILLER: Because I think what

          7  you're saying is that, I think what I understand

          8  you're saying is that if the Economic Development

          9  Corporation has a deal with Widget Company that

         10  they're going to pay $500,000 a year, that they have

         11  to actually go, if they want to redirect any of that

         12  money, they've got to go redo the contracts.

         13                 And for the 70 million, for example,

         14  with regard to the Stadium, what's you're saying is,

         15  do they have to redo all these contracts?

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: No. Those agreements

         17  provide that money will be spent.

         18                 SPEAKER MILLER: Really. And I know

         19  we're not dealing directly with the Stadium here,

         20  but in theory, in order for the Administration then

         21  to redirect the $70 million worth of PILOT payments

         22  to any project, they would have to go amend the

         23  contract with all those entities in order to say

         24  where they're going?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: Mr. Miller, I think you
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          2  misunderstand.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: I think I do, too.

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: The contracts will

          5  provide that the monies will be paid to the IDA,

          6  NYCIDA trustee.

          7                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: And those contracts

          9  themselves, those very same contracts I'm talking

         10  about, will say how that money will be spent.

         11                 The MOU provides in paragraph five

         12  how that money will be spent.

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER: But only until it

         14  arrives.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: That's correct.

         16                 SPEAKER MILLER: Once it arrives, then

         17  it goes into the general revenue stream --

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Unless it is already --

         19                 SPEAKER MILLER: Unless it's already

         20  been redirected.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes, that's correct.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: I think I understand

         23  you.

         24                 I would love to see, because I don't

         25  know how it could be, for example, that all of these
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          2  contracts could provide that the money is going to

          3  get spent on a project which only recently got

          4  approval. But let's move on.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: I just want to say, the

          6  MOU that we're talking about provides that the

          7  agency which is the NYCIDA and OMB will instruct the

          8  PILOT trustee how those monies will be spent. And

          9  that instruction occurs, and, therefore, by the time

         10  the money arrives, that instruction has been given.

         11                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay.

         12                 Well, we'll look at all of that. We'd

         13  love to see those contracts. We'd love to know the

         14  money that's coming, because we still don't know.

         15                 Just one other point, which is that

         16  from my understanding your analysis of personal

         17  property, what's the difference between that, this

         18  particular analysis and let's say franchise,

         19  concessions or like the leases, for example, with

         20  the airports?

         21                 Under your analysis then for all the

         22  money, the leases with the airports, this is a form

         23  of personal property --

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: The leases of the

         25  airports was something -- I'm going to ask Mr.
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          2  McSpirit (phonetic), who is our Deputy Chief of our

          3  Municipal Finance Division, who was intimately

          4  involved in the airport negotiations --

          5                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: -- To answer your

          7  question.

          8                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

          9                 MR. McSPIRIT: The leases with the

         10  airports and the other forms of contract rights that

         11  you describe, we would analyze pursuant to whatever

         12  sets of rules apply there.

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER: But would they be

         14  personal property?

         15                 MR. McSPIRIT: They would be personal

         16  property contained in contract rights.

         17                 That doesn't necessarily mean we've

         18  reached a conclusion or not, that they could be

         19  assigned in a manner described here.

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER: But the analysis that

         21  you get here is that the Mayor, the reason they can

         22  do this is because it's personal property, and the

         23  Mayor can convey personal property under the Creole

         24  Enterprise Decision, right?

         25                 MR. McSPIRIT: But in this instance
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          2  we're also applying that reasoning to these specific

          3  set of contract rights which are developed under the

          4  IDA statute.

          5                 SPEAKER MILLER: But is it or is it

          6  not the case that the Mayor can convey personal

          7  property?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes. That's exactly what

          9  the statute says.

         10                 SPEAKER MILLER: And if the leases

         11  with the airports are personal property, then the

         12  Mayor can convey them.

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: You have to look at what

         14  the particular lease says, and whether there's any

         15  other laws that are affecting them, before you could

         16  answer that question.

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: But in general what

         18  you're saying is that for some reason money is not

         19  personal property, it's cash once received?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: For purposes of this

         21  analysis, that's a distinction that you could draw,

         22  yes.

         23                 I think law school professors would

         24  certainly say generally speaking cash is one form of

         25  personal property.

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. But if it's

          3  personal property, and the Mayor can convey personal

          4  property, why can't he convey cash?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Because as we've said

          6  before, a contract right can be assigned under the

          7  various laws we're talking about. Once it is deemed

          8  to be revenue, because it has passed through that,

          9  then it would go into the general fund.

         10                 SPEAKER MILLER: I'm very appreciative

         11  of your testimony, your taking the time to share

         12  with us. I have to say that I don't see precisely

         13  the distinction on if this is okay, because personal

         14  property can be conveyed by the Mayor, then personal

         15  property can be conveyed by the Mayor.

         16                 I think what you're saying is there

         17  is some kinds of personal property that can be

         18  conveyed by the Mayor and other kinds of personal

         19  property under different circumstances that can't be

         20  conveyed by the Mayor.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: What I think is

         22  important to recognize, you start out with an

         23  analysis that State law unequivocally says that a

         24  city, a city may assign or transfer personal

         25  property. The City, under the Charter is defined to
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          2  be the Mayor. That's his reserve power. If you're

          3  going to change that, it requires an amendment of

          4  the City Charter which was required to be done by

          5  referendum.

          6                 So, until and unless that happens,

          7  therefore, the Mayor has the right to transfer

          8  personal property. A contract right, such as the

          9  right to receive a revenue stream, such as the LGAC

         10  situation, is a form of personal property, and

         11  therefore can be transferred by the Mayor without

         12  the need for approval by the City Council.

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, for example, the

         14  airport leases, unless there was something specific

         15  in the lease that prevented it, the airport leases

         16  would be a similar type of piece of personal

         17  property and would therefore be able to be

         18  transferred by the Mayor.

         19                 MR. McSPIRIT: As far as that

         20  statement goes, that's correct. We would examine the

         21  payments that would be made pursuant to the contract

         22  rights contained in the airport leases in the same

         23  manner.

         24                 That's not to conclude that they

         25  could be sold.
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          2                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

          3                 Do you recognize how extraordinarily

          4  radical a statement that is? In the sense that the

          5  amount, if you take the airport leases, franchise

          6  payments, anything that's a contract, and add it up,

          7  we've been doing it since we got your letter and

          8  we're already well over a billion dollars. And, so,

          9  I think what you're saying, is that unless -- your

         10  position is unless State law, or unless the Charter

         11  is amended in a lawful manner, that the Mayor of the

         12  City of New York has the power, without anybody

         13  saying boo, to direct over a billion dollars a year

         14  to whatever it is that he wants, without any review,

         15  without anybody saying that you can't. And I just

         16  think if that's true, it's an extraordinary amount

         17  of power to place in any one person's hand.

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Mr. Miller, what I can

         19  say to you is that the statute authorizing the IDA's

         20  act in this matter, New York City IDAs, obviously go

         21  back until, I think it's the eighties, the power to

         22  transfer personal property by the City, because City

         23  is Mayor within the meaning of the Charter by the

         24  Mayor, goes back a very, very long time. And this is

         25  the way New York City has carried out the powers
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          2  that I've just described for a very long time.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: But no Mayor before

          4  has tried to assign hundreds of millions of dollars

          5  to one particular project without review?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not going to get

          7  into a debate on each project, and I wouldn't even

          8  claim to have knowledge of each of the projects --

          9                 SPEAKER MILLER: All right. All I'm

         10  saying is that in the way that we counted right now,

         11  there's 900 million, at least $900 million worth of

         12  rental revenues, $220 million worth of franchise

         13  revenues, and $70 million in tax lien sale revenues

         14  due the City. So, that's about $1.3 billion. And I

         15  think what you're saying is that that has become,

         16  according to your analysis, what you're saying is,

         17  is that the Mayor could take $1.3 billion out of the

         18  budget and spend it on anything that he wants.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Why don't I ask Mr.

         20  McSpirit, who is familiar with those transactions,

         21  to answer that.

         22                 MR. McSPIRIT: It's interesting you

         23  would mention the tax lien transaction, because

         24  that's a good example of where we probably reach a

         25  different conclusion. And it's why you have to
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          2  examine. It's not enough to say that all of these

          3  revenues are contained --

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: Unless --

          5                 MR. McSPIRIT: Are contained in

          6  contract rights.

          7                 The tax lien legislation, obviously

          8  as you're familiar, is pursuant to a provision of

          9  the Administrative Code, which the Council is

         10  allowed to pass pursuant to State law. There

         11  obviously we would reach a different conclusion. So,

         12  I think it's unfair to lump together all the

         13  revenues --

         14                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. So, we'll

         15  reduce the rental revenues and the franchise

         16  revenues?

         17                 MR. McSPIRIT: It's fair to say that's

         18  an example where you cannot go this far and perhaps

         19  in examining each of these revenue streams we may or

         20  may not reach a different conclusion.

         21                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Speaker.

         24                 Mr. Cardozo, and I know you touched

         25  on it in your statement as to what, you know, the
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          2  definition of the City and the Mayor, but I'm not

          3  clear you went into the taxing jurisdiction

          4  definition. Because my understanding is that there

          5  is a requirement that the IDA turn PILOTs over the

          6  taxing jurisdiction, and my understanding is that

          7  State law defines taxing jurisdiction as the

          8  jurisdiction that would have received a property tax

          9  revenue, but for the tax exempt status of the

         10  project; isn't that accurate?

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: Let me just look at the

         12  statute. I think it's Section 854, Subsection 16.

         13  And it says,"... the affected tax jurisdiction shall

         14  mean any municipality which doesn't receive the

         15  taxes in question."

         16                 The answer is yes. And, therefore,

         17  you then ask yourself what is, so that would be New

         18  York City in this case, and the word "city" under

         19  the New York City Charter means the Mayor, as I've

         20  said before.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes, but I'm

         22  talking specifically about taxing jurisdiction.

         23  Wouldn't you agree that the taxing jurisdiction

         24  would really rightfully be the City Council of the

         25  City of New York?
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: No, I wouldn't. Because

          3  if you look at the definition in Section 854,

          4  Section 16 of the IDA statute, I think what you're

          5  referring to is the provision, "affected tax

          6  jurisdiction." That's the magic language. Affected

          7  tax jurisdiction is specifically defined in the

          8  statute to be city, and as I've said before, the

          9  city in this instance means the Mayor.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But generally

         11  when taxes are paid to the City of New York, the

         12  imposition of the taxes up and down is a province of

         13  the legislative body of the city which is the City

         14  Council; isn't that correct?

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct, but

         16  we're talking here, we're talking about, because I

         17  think you're focusing on the language of Section

         18  874, the need to make the payment to the "affected

         19  tax jurisdiction," affected tax jurisdiction is

         20  defined in the statute not to be the City Council.

         21  It is defined to be the City.

         22                 And I have already explained in

         23  answering Mr. Miller's question, the city in this

         24  instance means the Mayor.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. We can
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          2  argue this back and forth. You know, there is a

          3  concern that generally money that is paid in lieu of

          4  taxes should go through the normal budget process.

          5  But I'm not going to argue you that. I think that's

          6  for a court at one point to decide.

          7                 However, Speaker Miller raised a

          8  concern about a potential billion dollars plus, and

          9  I don't want to belabor this, but that the Mayor

         10  could potentially spend at his own discretion. Maybe

         11  that's why he's running for Mayor, I don't know. But

         12  do you in your mind have a feeling as what an

         13  appropriate amount of money should be allowed to be

         14  spent?

         15                 Or is there a number in your mind

         16  that should be a cap on the amount of money that

         17  should be allowed to any chief executive to allocate

         18  outside of a normal budgetary process?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Mr. Miller -- Mr.

         20  Weprin, I'm here to talk about the --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm not talking

         22  about any particular project. I'm just talking --

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not going to opine.

         24  I don't think that the right analysis is that

         25  question, in all due respect. The right analysis is

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  whether or not the State law and City Charter

          3  precludes the passage of this proposed legislation.

          4  In all due respect, I think the answer to that

          5  question is yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You know, that's

          7  a different issue. I'm saying, assuming that there

          8  are proper agreements in place between the IDA and

          9  an individual developer and a contract, is there, in

         10  your mind, or in the Administration's mind, a

         11  maximum amount that should be allowed to be used, or

         12  is there no limit as to that amount?

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not the right person

         14  to ask that question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Who would be the

         16  right person?

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: I think reasonable

         18  people you could ask -- obviously you have an

         19  opinion, so I think you just have to ask people who

         20  are familiar with what the City's various

         21  obligations are.

         22                 I'm here only to testify about the

         23  legalities of the proposed law.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

         25                 Would you envision this matter at one
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          2  point? Assuming the legislation is passed and the

          3  Mayor vetoes it, the Council overrides the veto,

          4  would you anticipate this matter being in the hands

          5  of a court at one point?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, unfortunately, we

          7  have had the need to have occasion to litigate with

          8  the City Council on issues involving the Council

          9  power and the Mayor power. And it is obviously

         10  possible this matter could end up in litigation.

         11                 I always try to avoid litigation, but

         12  if we head down the road of the passage of this

         13  legislation over the Mayor's veto, that's certainly

         14  a possibility.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So it would be

         16  the Administration you think that would bring it to

         17  court?

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: I think we would have to

         19  see where we are at that time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. We have a

         21  number of members that want to ask questions, so I'm

         22  going to allow my colleagues to ask questions.

         23                 The next questioner will be Council

         24  Member Oliver Koppell, who chairs the subcommittee

         25  of this committee on Revenue Forecasting.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Good

          3  afternoon.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've also been

          5  joined by a few other colleagues. Before we call on

          6  Council Member Koppell, we've been joined by Council

          7  Member Eric Gioia from Queens, Council Member Bill

          8  DeBlasio from Brooklyn, and I think that's it for

          9  now.

         10                 Council Member Koppell.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Good

         12  afternoon.

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: Good afternoon.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Cardozo,

         15  I'm going to sort of restrict myself to your

         16  statutory analysis because that's what we have

         17  before us here, and I note that you say here the

         18  sponsor's apparent basis for Intro. 584 is the

         19  argument that no revenue of the City may be expended

         20  without appropriation. And then you say you concede.

         21  You say this is generally true to the extent that

         22  such monies are revenues of the City. And then you

         23  cite the Charter Section 109.

         24                 So, if these revenues, these PILOT

         25  payments are revenues of the City, they require
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          2  appropriation. We both agree on that, right?

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: If they have become

          4  revenues, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If they

          6  become revenues with the City.

          7                 And then you cite Intro -- I'm sorry,

          8  you cite Section 874(3) of the General Municipal

          9  Law, which was enacted for whatever reason, but I

         10  think we both would agree that as a matter of

         11  statutory construction if the meaning of a phrase is

         12  clear, it doesn't matter what reason it was enacted,

         13  it's the law. And this says that PILOTs received by

         14  an IDA shall be remitted to each affected tax

         15  jurisdiction within 30 days of receipt.

         16                 Now, if they're remitted to the tax

         17  jurisdiction, then the tax jurisdiction has those

         18  revenues, correct?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: But before, Mr. Koppell,

         20  what I said before is since there has been an

         21  assignment of that --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm sorry. Go

         23  ahead. Could you say it again? He was whispering in

         24  my ear. I'm sorry.

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: Because the payment to
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          2  the affected tax jurisdiction occurs when the

          3  payment is made to the trustee --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: And that affected tax

          6  jurisdiction is the Mayor.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The Mayor is

          8  a tax jurisdiction?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: The Mayor, under Section

         10  8 of the Charter, would be deemed to be the city,

         11  and the city, that's what the affected tax

         12  jurisdiction is defined to be, under 874 -- I'm

         13  sorry, 874, 854-16.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The Charter

         15  assigns the Mayor the role of collecting revenues

         16  for the City?

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: That's not what I said.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You said the

         19  City is the Mayor.

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: I said that the

         21  definition of affected tax jurisdiction is the city.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: The City under Section 8

         24  of the Charter is deemed to be the Mayor.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Unless
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          2  otherwise provided.

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: Unless otherwise

          4  provided by law.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: And therefore, since the

          7  assignment of those revenues have occurred before

          8  the revenues are physically paid, that is why they

          9  are not revenues within the meaning of the relevant

         10  provisions of the Charter.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But the Mayor

         12  doesn't receive the revenues of the City. Those are

         13  received by the City, not by the Mayor alone but by

         14  the whole City government, and then those revenues

         15  then have to be allocated by the Council.

         16                 The Mayor may be the city, you say

         17  the Mayor is the city under the IDA legislation,

         18  because it says the governing body of New York City

         19  with respect to pilots is the Mayor, but that may be

         20  true with respect to the IDA, but not with respect

         21  to the revenues of the IDA.

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: Revenues within the

         23  meaning of the City Charter, those are not, they're

         24  not revenues within the meaning of the City Charter

         25  because they've already been assigned, as he has the
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          2  right to, by the Mayor.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But the State

          4  law, which you agree governs here, says specifically

          5  that the IDA shall remit these revenues to the

          6  affected tax jurisdiction.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: And the affected tax

          8  jurisdiction is defined to be the city, and the city

          9  is defined to be the Mayor.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Where is the

         11  city defined to be the Mayor?

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: Under Section 8 of the

         13  Charter.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Unless

         15  otherwise provided. If you look at other sections of

         16  the Charter, they don't provide that the Mayor shall

         17  receive revenue.

         18                 The Mayor doesn't receive the tax

         19  revenue, does he?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: No, he does not.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. Well,

         22  that's the point. You're saying that the city --

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: Mr. Koppell, these are

         24  not tax revenues.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They're
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          2  payments in lieu of taxes.

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So that --

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: That is a major

          6  distinction as authorized by State law.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And the State

          8  law also says that the revenues should be -- that

          9  the PILOTs, we're talking about the PILOTs, I'm

         10  reading from your own statement, the PILOTs received

         11  by an IDA shall be remitted to the tax jurisdiction.

         12  That's not the Mayor under the Charter. You may say

         13  it is, but I think that's a misreading of the

         14  Charter.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: In all due respect, I

         16  disagree with you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         20                 Council Member Perkins.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         22  very much. I'm going to be quick.

         23                 I just want to follow up on the line

         24  of questioning that Council Member Koppell pursued,

         25  particularly in terms of the jurisdiction that is
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          2  supposed to identified.

          3                 And I want to make reference to the

          4  Office of the State Comptroller of New York, Opinion

          5  No. 82-174, dated July 1982. I want to just read one

          6  section.

          7                 It seems to in my mind suggest that

          8  the Mayor may not be the appropriate place, as you

          9  would seem to be committed to.

         10                 But it is clear, "it is clear that in

         11  lieu of tax payments to be received by a

         12  municipality are to be included within the schedule

         13  of revenues to be received during the ensuing fiscal

         14  year, other than real property taxes to be levied.

         15                 This would apply to every municipal

         16  entity, village, town, special district, fire

         17  district, county school district, which is to

         18  receive in lieu of tax payments pursuant to a lease

         19  between an industrial development agency and a

         20  lessee. In conclusion, therefore, municipal

         21  recipients in lieu of tax payments must include the

         22  same as estimated revenues in the annual preparation

         23  of their budgets."

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: As I think I indicated

         25  before, and I'm not sure who we're talking about,
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          2  the same Comptroller's opinion or not, there's a

          3  specific reference to a particular lease there, and,

          4  of course, as both I've said and Mr. McSpirit said,

          5  you have to look at the particular document and the

          6  particular transaction before you can draw a general

          7  conclusion.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In this case

          9  it says all municipalities. "Every municipal entity"

         10  is the exact language that they use.

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: And I think what that

         12  opinion is saying, if you look at it, is if you

         13  receive the PILOTs as revenues, if you receive the

         14  PILOTs as revenues. That's not what we're talking

         15  about.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It doesn't

         17  say that. It says, I will read again, it is quite

         18  clear that in lieu of payments to be received by a

         19  municipality are to be included within the schedule

         20  of revenues to be received during the ensuing fiscal

         21  year, other than real property taxes to be levied.

         22                 So, it talks about in lieu of tax

         23  payment to be received.

         24                 MR. McSPIRIT: Yes, Councilman. We're

         25  relying on the fact that that opinion says that to
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          2  be received, which indicates to the extent these

          3  pilots do end up in he budget of these, do end up as

          4  revenues, then they have to be counted as revenues

          5  and appropriated. It does not disagree with our

          6  conclusion that if they are not received, then they

          7  are not revenues.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, it's a

          9  question of to be or not to be.

         10                 I'm going to leave this to the

         11  leadership of the Council. And obviously this is a

         12  lawyer's thing now, but it's clear to me that the

         13  way you're interpreting the law, if the City were to

         14  sell naming rights to let's say City Hall, to Pepsi,

         15  and call City Hall Pepsi City Hall, and it could

         16  redirect the money per contract to build a NASCAR

         17  race track on say Staten Island, without any

         18  oversight or any consideration by anybody but the

         19  Mayor.

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: There's a lot of issues

         21  there, including ULURP, real property makes things a

         22  great deal differently.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But assuming

         24  all those other matters, you're saying anything that

         25  the City sells, like you just sold Snapple rights,
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          2  all those kind of contractual arrangements are

          3  purely, totally, unquestionably, and that money is

          4  the Mayor's money, to be used as the Mayor decides.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: What I'm saying is that

          6  the State law says that the Mayor can assign or

          7  transfer the personal property rights. That's what

          8  this is all about.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I understand.

         10  But you're saying the Mayor has the right to spend

         11  all the money in these kinds of arrangements as he

         12  wishes without any oversight, any public review,

         13  without the public having any say so whatsoever in a

         14  format such as this, that this is the Mayor's money?

         15  This is the Mayor's slush fund, if you want to be --

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: Mr. Perkins, I think you

         17  and I are just having a difference about --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Sure.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't think we can

         20  reach a conclusion or persuade each other. What I am

         21  saying is relying on well established practice, as

         22  well as statutes that date back at least to 1980s,

         23  and that as recently as 1992, Mayor Dinkins agreed

         24  perfectly consistent with the new law that was being

         25  proposed at the time, that the practice of the Mayor
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          2  assigning these property rights was lawful and is

          3  authorized by statute.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just have

          5  one final question, Mr. Chairman, a brief question.

          6                 I just want to understand, you know,

          7  with respect to the jets deal, the Corp Counsel

          8  apparently seven months after the Jets deal was

          9  announced sought an opinion on whether he was

         10  violating the Conflicts of Interest laws, and I just

         11  wanted to understand, why did it take seven months

         12  for you to seek such an opinion, even after EDC, the

         13  MTA, and the City had signed a memorandum of

         14  understanding; can you answer that?

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes, I can answer that.

         16                 I had no involvement with the Jets

         17  transaction. I had nothing to do with the drafting

         18  of the memorandum of understanding, I had nothing to

         19  do with it.

         20                 As when it became clear that I would

         21  have something to do with it, because there would be

         22  litigation in which my office would be involved, and

         23  therefore, because a question had arisen because of

         24  my prior relationship with a law firm that

         25  represented the Jets, I immediately sought an
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          2  opinion from the Conflicts Board. I had previously

          3  been told by the Conflicts Board that I could give

          4  advice, but I shouldn't get involved in litigation

          5  until and unless they said it was okay. So, I gave

          6  advice and did not get involved in litigation.

          7                 I refused to talk to anyone from any

          8  of the affected, any of the affected parties, or the

          9  affected lawyers, I adhered to that ruling. And then

         10  when I got specific permission from the Conflicts

         11  Board to participate in a litigation because they

         12  concluded that there was no conflict, then and only

         13  then did I get involved.

         14                 And I want to reiterate that I

         15  believe that I uphold the highest standards of this

         16  City with respect to the ethical issues, and as soon

         17  as it became apparent that I might have to be

         18  involved personally, I immediately sought guidance

         19  from the Conflicts Board.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When did you

         21  first get involved in advising the Mayor or other

         22  City agencies on the West Side Stadium negotiation?

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't have the dates

         24  in front of me, Mr. Perkins, but it was -- I didn't

         25  get involved until I saw that I might get involved,
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          2  and therefore I sought clearance from the Conflicts

          3  Board before I got involved.

          4                 I would be more than happy -- there

          5  are letters that I have in my office to the

          6  Conflicts Board that would reflect the precise

          7  dates.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So you think

          9  it would be after September of 2004?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not going to answer

         11  -- Mr. Gonzalez's article this morning has a number

         12  of inaccuracies in it. He did have copies of all of

         13  the relevant, both my letters to the Conflicts

         14  Board, the Mayor's letters to the Conflicts Board

         15  and the letters back to me from the Conflicts Board.

         16  I'd be more than happy to supply them to you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, you have

         18  correspondence that dates when you first started

         19  getting involved?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: Before I got involved.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Before you

         22  got involved.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: When I saw there was a

         24  possibility that I might get involved.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Does that
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          2  mean advice as well? What does the definition --

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes. And that's why the

          4  Conflicts Board first said, and there was two

          5  transactions and I don't remember the details, the

          6  Conflicts Board first said I could give advice. But

          7  if it evolved into litigation, I would have to come

          8  back for the ruling, so I gave advice and then when

          9  it did evolve into ligation, I got a separate

         10  ruling.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So they

         12  allowed you, you got permission to give advice after

         13  you requested it? Or were you giving advice before

         14  you requested clearance?

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: No, I did not give

         16  advice.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Were you

         18  giving advice before you requested clearance?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And so you

         21  had no involvement before September of --

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't remember the

         23  dates. I'm not going to answer the date off the top

         24  of my head.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

          4  by Council Member Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan.

          5                 I would just like to state for the

          6  record, as Chair of this Committee, and my dealings

          7  with the Corporation Counsel, that I believe him to

          8  be of the highest integrity, and we do not legislate

          9  -- newspaper reports have been known to not be 100

         10  percent accurate. I think every member of this

         11  Committee has been a victim of one time or another

         12  of inaccuracies in the press, and I just want to

         13  state from my own personal point of view, that Mr.

         14  Cardozo has the highest integrity and I take him at

         15  his word when he says that he sought the appropriate

         16  opinion when it became a problem and he was advised

         17  such, and that's good enough for me.

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Thank you very much, Mr.

         19  Weprin.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         21  Quinn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't know

         23  if I'm supposed to respond to you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         25  Quinn.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          3                 Sir, I want to go back to a point

          4  that you and Speaker Miller were discussing.

          5                 So, you have asserted that once

          6  pilots are contractually assigned to pay for

          7  something that they can be diverted, so to speak?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm not saying

         10  I agree with that, but just for argument's sake,

         11  we'll move to the next point.

         12                 How does that work?

         13                 Does the contract between, you know,

         14  Speaker Miller's Widget Company and the City have to

         15  say that the Widget's PILOT is going to pay for X

         16  specific project for, you know --

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: No.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: It doesn't?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: No.

         20                 I mean, I'm not familiar with every

         21  single contract, but generally the answer to that

         22  question is no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, then,

         24  generally how is it -- if the contract, generally

         25  speaking, doesn't indicate exactly what the money is
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          2  going for, is all that it says that this PILOT, the

          3  agreement is simply that this PILOT will be diverted

          4  out of the budget?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: If you look at the MOU

          6  that we're talking about, what it says is that the

          7  IDA and OMB will tell the PILOT trustee to whom the

          8  trustee should make the payments.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So that's why

         10  you contend, as you were discussing with the

         11  Speaker, that there is no need for a change in

         12  contract.

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Now, you

         15  brought up the PILOT trustee, and that person I

         16  guess oversees the account into which PILOTs are

         17  turned over to the City by the IDA; is that correct?

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes, it's a bank I

         19  think.

         20                 MR. McSPIRIT: It's a --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can you speak

         22  up, sir?

         23                 MR. McSPIRIT: Sorry.

         24                 It's a bank, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What bank?
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          2                 MR. McSPIRIT: I believe it is the

          3  Bank of New York. It is one of the approved fiscal

          4  agents that the City can use.

          5                 And also the agreement with the

          6  developers would provide that the payments in lieu

          7  of taxes would be paid to the PILOT trustee.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Who is the

          9  PILOT trustee?

         10                 MR. McSPIRIT: Again, the Bank of New

         11  York.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Doesn't that

         13  violate Charter Section 93 K, which requires that

         14  the Comptroller administer and keep all trust funds

         15  held by the City?

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: I think it's the same

         17  issue.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What do you

         19  mean, sir?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: It's the same issue

         21  we're talking about, if those are funds held by the

         22  City. And it's the same issue we've been talking

         23  about for the last hour or so.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But if you

         25  designate the Bank of New York in this case the
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          2  entity which is to receive the PILOT, that

          3  designation has come from the City. So, how is that

          4  not money then that is the City's money, if you made

          5  the designation of where it goes?

          6                 I don't understand how that

          7  eliminates --

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: We don't think that the

          9  Charter provision to which you just cited would

         10  apply.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Why? How?

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: Because, as I've said,

         13  the Mayor has control over these monies.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But if the

         15  Charter says that the Comptroller is to administer

         16  and keep all trust funds held by the City, then if

         17  you -- the City has indicated that the Bank of New

         18  York in this case is where those monies are to go,

         19  the City has created the Bank of New York's function

         20  and role there.

         21                 So, how is it then not a fund of the

         22  City since it wouldn't go there, had it not been for

         23  the City's determination it should go there?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: It all goes back to the

         25  same issue. You are assuming that those are, quote,
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          2  funds of the City. And we're saying that because of

          3  the powers that I've discussed before, those should

          4  not be considered to be funds of the City within

          5  that meaning.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm not even

          7  two-thirds a lawyer, as Gifford is. I don't

          8  understand that. Because as it relates, I understand

          9  it generally, but in this case I don't understand it

         10  as it relates to the Comptroller's role and

         11  function.

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: Because we're still back

         13  to the basic underlying question which I think we

         14  have been debating in one form or another, is

         15  whether or not, whether you want to call them

         16  revenues of the City, which I think is the wording

         17  that's used in the proposed legislation, or trust

         18  funds of the City, which is what you are referring

         19  to, the question is whether because they started out

         20  as a contract right, a personal property right that

         21  we believe the Mayor has control over, whether they,

         22  because when they are converted to cash, if you

         23  will, whether they suddenly become, quote, funds or

         24  revenue of the City, and our position is, based upon

         25  the past practice and the laws that I've cited, is
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          2  it is not funds of the City or revenue of the City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Could the

          4  Comptroller audit the account at the Bank of New

          5  York?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't know the answer

          7  to that question off the top of my head.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Could you get

          9  us an answer to that question?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: How is the

         12  decision made where these monies would go? And if

         13  the Mayor is the trustee of the PILOT account, in

         14  what capacity is he working and acting if then this

         15  account is in your estimation not monies which would

         16  fall under the Comptroller's purview, therefore in

         17  your estimation, not revenues of the City of New

         18  York?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, the money is

         20  determined how to be paid as I said by this contract

         21  provides by the ICA and OMB.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, you, in the

         23  conversations so far in the hearing we've talked

         24  about franchises and sale of property, you know,

         25  what are other examples that may not have been
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          2  outlined so far today that fall into monies that you

          3  believe, I'm not disagreeing or disagreeing, that

          4  you believe fall into this other worldly nature?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, you have to take a

          6  look at each particular transaction that the NYCIDA

          7  would enter into.

          8                 As I've said, it has been used for

          9  the Midtown Community Court and the other areas that

         10  I outlined in my testimony. You'd have to look at

         11  each particular transaction. And as I understand it,

         12  I think you could get somewhat of a list from Mr.

         13  Page, and we're going to look into whether or not we

         14  can give you a more complete list.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         16  kind of go back to the question of what authorities

         17  the Mayor does and doesn't have. And in the LGAC

         18  case, didn't the State law specifically authorize

         19  the Mayor to assign the revenue stream to an LDC for

         20  the purpose of taking out the MAC debt?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes. And we're saying

         22  that that is exactly analogous to the language that

         23  we are relying upon in the NYCIDA.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But if the

         25  Mayor had the authority, why would the State law
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          2  have had to grant him this authority if in fact

          3  you're saying he already had it?

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: Because this was the

          5  creation of a new revenue stream, and this was an

          6  issue that unfortunately the Legislature had drafted

          7  the LGAC statute that apparently very late at night

          8  it had a number of issues, ambiguities that took

          9  this all the way to the Court of Appeals. And I was

         10  not a party of the drafting of the legislation, but

         11  they were creating a revenue stream in LGAC, and

         12  they said that LGAC would have this revenue stream,

         13  and then the Mayor would be authorized to assign it,

         14  that's the way they drafted the statute.

         15                 If you're asking me what if they had

         16  said city rather than Mayor, my analysis would have

         17  been the same.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, when you

         19  say it's a new revenue stream, what is a new revenue

         20  stream? Is a new revenue stream simply new monies

         21  that the City has that they didn't have before? Or

         22  is it actually an entirely new body of water?

         23                 Because one would argue, could argue,

         24  that, you know, every new contract is a new revenue

         25  stream if it's not monies we've had before.
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, the LGAC

          3  situation, there was never a revenue stream of

          4  monies that would flow to New York City through the

          5  Mayor in that way. That was a creation of a new

          6  revenue stream.

          7                 The revenue streams are, the concept

          8  of the revenue stream is provided for in the IDA

          9  statute, and therefore when New York City IDA enters

         10  into a contract, the authority to do that exists,

         11  and every new contract they enter into would, of

         12  course, create a new revenue stream.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, then it

         14  seems to me then every new pilot is a new revenue

         15  stream.

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: In that sense, yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So then

         18  wouldn't the Mayor therefore then need to have --

         19  you were saying in the LGAC case that the State

         20  needed to do this, because it was a new revenue

         21  stream, how does a pilot that gets created tomorrow

         22  not carry with it the same obligation of state law

         23  having to give the Mayor that power?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: Because before the LGAC

         25  legislation was passed, there was no right of New
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          2  York City to receive money from the State

          3  Legislature through the LGAC mechanism of whatever

          4  it was, $250 million a year for 20 years, which is

          5  what that legislation provided.

          6                 That right didn't exist. We couldn't

          7  have sued anybody if that money hadn't been paid.

          8  The Legislature, in order to help out New York City

          9  and to pay off the old MAC debt said, we're going to

         10  create something that New York City didn't have

         11  before, didn't exist in the IDA statute, didn't

         12  exist any place, we hereby agree that every year we

         13  will pay LGAC 250, I forget the amount, I think it

         14  was $250 million a year, to LGAC, which the Mayor

         15  and the City of New York can then assign. That was a

         16  right that didn't exist.

         17                 Under the IDA statute that right, the

         18  right exists. The particular contract, of course,

         19  does not come into being until IDA signs a contract

         20  with a developer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Could you point

         22  out to the Council the exact language in the IDA

         23  statute that gives the Mayor or the City or whomever

         24  the right to assign PILOTs, what you just stated

         25  which is the difference then with this and LGAC.
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: I think what you start

          3  out with is that section 917, subsection K -- I'm

          4  sorry, let be backtrack.

          5                 The New York City IDA is created by

          6  Section 917 of the Industrial Development Act.

          7                 Section 917 K of that statute

          8  provides that the words, "governing body" in the

          9  case of the City of New York shall mean the Mayor of

         10  the City of New York.

         11                 If you go back to Section 874 of the

         12  IDA statute, that gives the power of an IDA to enter

         13  into contracts, and to grant PILOT payments, the

         14  combination of those statutes is what I would

         15  suggest mean that the Mayor has the authority over

         16  these funds.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Let me ask you

         18  another question, just to go back to the LGAC issue

         19  for a second, what role did the Mayor's Office have

         20  in drafting that legislation?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't know. I don't

         22  know the answer to that question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Pardon?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: I do not know.

         25                 MR. McSPIRIT: Less than we would have
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          2  liked to have had.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Less than you

          4  would have liked to have had.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: I think if we had been

          6  in Albany on those wee hours on whatever morning

          7  that was, the statute might have been drafted to

          8  avoid some of the ambiguity that resulted in that

          9  year's worth of litigation that was awfully

         10  important to all of us.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair. I'm not sure of -- as you could tell, this

         13  just came to me, this additional question.

         14                 Why doesn't the IDA statute require

         15  the IDA to turn the PILOTs over to the governing

         16  body? Since this is defined as the Mayor, instead --

         17  oh, this is a good question -- instead it says

         18  taxing jurisdiction. I would have thought about

         19  that.

         20                 I would have thought about that.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm sorry, I didn't

         22  follow the question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Why does the

         24  IDA statute require that the IDA turn PILOTs over to

         25  the governing body, since it's defined as the Mayor,
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          2  instead it says taxing jurisdiction.

          3                 MR. McSPIRIT: What it says is that

          4  with respect to the 30-day provision that the

          5  payments of the PILOT shall be made in 30 days to

          6  the affected tax jurisdiction. It doesn't change the

          7  overall power of the Mayor over the IDA.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: We might have

          9  another question later, but we'll get back to you.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         12  Council member.

         13                 The next questioner is Harry Fidler

         14  -- oh, I mean Lew Fidler.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Good afternoon, Mr. Cardozo. I want

         18  to start by congratulating you because when you

         19  stepped into the well, we had a most animated

         20  audience, and your thorough description of the terms

         21  of general municipality law, rate 74, subsections 3

         22  and 16, has done a heck of a job of subduing them.

         23                 I hope it hasn't discouraged my son

         24  from wanting to go to law school.

         25                 Okay, I recognize that you believe
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          2  and you prefer that the legality of a proposed law

          3  will only be discussed in a judicial forum. I

          4  suspect the Council is going to give you that

          5  opportunity. But I appreciate the fact that you did

          6  come here today and share with us your rationale.

          7  And what frightens me is I think I understood it.

          8  And in layman's terms, if I understood it correctly,

          9  what you're saying is when it was a contractual

         10  right, because it was a sign, it never arrives into

         11  the general revenue stream; is that right?

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: That's assuming that

         13  that particular contract is permissible within the

         14  relevant statutes, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, I just

         16  sort of summed it up in that one sentence.

         17                 So, I understand that, and my first

         18  year I went to, the dean told us it was a pretty

         19  good law school, NYU, and we had of course, we had

         20  to read a book called Legal Fictions, and this

         21  sounds to me a perfect example for that book. I

         22  mean, because it never arrived, it didn't get here,

         23  even though we have it. And you know, if it's cash

         24  and it's green, to me it's revenue, and you know, I

         25  have a problem with that, and I realize that that's
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          2  a difference of opinion that we country lawyers are

          3  just going to continue to have.

          4                 I do want to ask you about the scope

          5  of this issue. Now, from my understanding, IDA, EDC,

          6  Battery Park Commission, NYCHA, all have the power

          7  to exempt certain properties from real property

          8  taxation and impose PILOTs contractually; is that

          9  correct?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: I think that's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Is there any

         12  limitation in the law upon their ability to do that?

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm certainly not

         14  familiar with the details of every statute, but just

         15  talking to the IDA, which is really what I think

         16  we're talking about here, I think all it says is

         17  that the IDA has the power to enter into agreements

         18  in lieu of taxes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, how

         20  about EDC?

         21                 I mean, the EDC has the power to do

         22  that every time they think there's an economic

         23  development, you know, initiative?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: No. Ownership by EDC, I

         25  do not believe automatically gives tax exemption.
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          2  But I could be wrong.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: It doesn't

          4  automatically give it, but EDC has, is empowered to

          5  give it.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: The tax exemption at

          7  issue here is because of the IDA statute.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I understand

          9  the tax exemption that's at issue here, and while

         10  you prefer to look at the four corners of the paper,

         11  I'd rather look at the whole book, all right? So,

         12  I'm asking you whether or not these other agencies

         13  have these unfettered powers?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: I think you have to look

         15  at each of these agency's powers under the statute,

         16  and I certainly do not claim to be familiar with

         17  every agency's powers.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You're the

         19  Corp Counsel, if not you then who?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, if you had asked

         21  me to testify about something not related to this,

         22  then I would have looked at that particular issue. I

         23  was here today, as I've said, to talk about the

         24  issue before us.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But,
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          2  Counselor, it is related. It is related. And in any

          3  of these agencies that can contract PILOTs and

          4  assign them, as opposed to imposing or requiring the

          5  ordinary real property tax, is there a requirement

          6  that there be a nexus between the purpose of the

          7  project, or the use of the real estate and what

          8  those dollars ultimately are spent for?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: No.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, my point

         11  is this, is you have at least four City agencies,

         12  all of which are under the direct control of the

         13  Mayor, and each one of them has unfettered ability

         14  under each of their authorizations. Unfettered

         15  ability under each of their authorizations to enter

         16  into agreements and create pilots. And those pilots,

         17  the use of that money doesn't have to have anything

         18  to do with the project. I mean we could take an

         19  economic development project in Brooklyn, and we

         20  could spend it on art supplies in the Bronx.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: No. There are statutory

         22  purposes, and you would have to meet the broad

         23  outlines that are set forth in the statute. There is

         24  development projects that are required under the IDA

         25  statute.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All right. So,

          3  then you're changing the answer to no to my next

          4  question. You said no.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: You would have to look

          6  at the particular statute under IDA. It's a

          7  development statute, so it has to be a development

          8  project.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Right. So, IDA

         10  grants Speaker Miller's Widget Company a real

         11  property tax abatement and assigns a PILOT, and then

         12  the Mayor decides that that money is going to be

         13  used, not for Widget development, but for art

         14  supplies in the Bronx, is that permissible?

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes. Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, that's

         17  what I meant by unfettered. In other words, there

         18  need not be a connection between the IDA project by

         19  which the exemption was granted, and then the use of

         20  the money subsequently. So, my point is this: At a

         21  certain point, doesn't it become relevant in arguing

         22  in a court of law, when a totality of the

         23  circumstances reaches a level, perhaps a billion

         24  dollars, perhaps 2 billion dollars, where such a

         25  high proportion of the City budget can be directed
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          2  outside of the ordinary budget process, doesn't that

          3  at some point become legally relevant?

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: Mr. Fidler, I'm just

          5  going to talk about what the statute says. I think

          6  we also, and I'm not suggesting we do this, but you

          7  go back to the Creole case that I mentioned before,

          8  the courts have made clear, there is not a

          9  requirement that you sell this particular income

         10  stream, or this particular property, for full value,

         11  because the Mayor has the right to take other facts

         12  into account.

         13                 The Creole pays WNYC was sold to not

         14  the highest bidder, because the Court said the Mayor

         15  can take other factors into account.

         16                 You want to talk about maybe the

         17  illustration you made, which I don't think we're at

         18  all there, there's a reason to go back to the State

         19  Legislature or the people of the City to change the

         20  law, then that's an argument of course that we would

         21  address in a legislative body.

         22                 I'm talking about what the law today

         23  provides.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Cardozo,

         25  I'm not sure if you're missing my point or side
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          2  stepping it; and that is that at a certain point --

          3  you know, we have a governmental process set up by

          4  the Charter that pretty much divides powers, maybe

          5  not the way I'd like to see them divided, maybe not

          6  the way the Mayor would like to see them divided,

          7  although I can't imagine him getting anymore power

          8  than he already has, but generally kind of makes the

          9  budget process something that is shared between the

         10  Council and the Mayor. At a certain point in time

         11  when money is diverted from the general revenue to

         12  such a large degree that it becomes a seriously

         13  measurable percentage of what would be the general

         14  budget of the City of New York; does that not become

         15  a legal issue in and of itself?

         16                 I mean, if half, if out of $48

         17  billion of potential revenue, and I'm not saying

         18  this is possible, 20 billion all of a sudden became

         19  within the purview of the Mayor to assign because it

         20  was pilot money, would you say that would be a legal

         21  issue?

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: I would say if it got to

         23  that order of magnitude, it would be a very good

         24  reason to go to the legislature and the people to

         25  amend --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Let's say we

          3  get the usual respect we get from the Legislature in

          4  Albany, or they couldn't care, okay? And so I had to

          5  go to say Judge DeGrasse and say something is wrong

          6  here, wouldn't you agree that at that magnitude

          7  that's certainly a legal, a bonafide legitimate

          8  legal issue that we have a problem with this

          9  process?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: If my legal analysis --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Come on, go

         12  for it, Counselor. You know I'm right. At 20 billion

         13  out of 48 billion?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: If my legal analysis is

         15  correct, as I believe it is, if the complaints that

         16  you're making, the hypotheticals that you're drawing

         17  are issues that the legislature or the people should

         18  deal with, it doesn't matter if it was $5 million

         19  it's lawful, and $20 billion it's unlawful, that

         20  doesn't follow.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That doesn't

         22  follow?  Sometimes the magnitude to which something

         23  is being done doesn't become relevant as to whether

         24  or not the powers of government have been usurped by

         25  one branch from the other?
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: I think we're talking

          3  about --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You really

          5  don't think so?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I think we're talking

          7  about what the powers are authorized by the Mayor

          8  and the City Council, and I think we covered that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay. Well, I

         10  think on this, which is a legal point as opposed to

         11  obviously a philosophical difference about what the

         12  law should be, I think we have a disagreement on the

         13  law. And quite frankly, I think if half of the

         14  potential revenue stream that was coming to the City

         15  of New York were being assigned by contractual

         16  rights by the Mayor as a PILOT, as opposed to

         17  through the ordinary legislative budgetary process,

         18  I think a court would stop that cold, all right?

         19                 And so then the question becomes at

         20  what level does this program become a legal issue?

         21  Does the diversion of revenue, because it never gets

         22  to the ordinary budget process become a legal issue?

         23  I suspect that when we pass this and the Mayor

         24  vetoes it and then we override it, and then you get

         25  to argue that point, we'll get to find out as to
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          2  whether or not we're at that point.

          3                 I honestly believe that your legal

          4  assessment is incorrect, with all due respect.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: I guess us country

          6  lawyers will have to disagree.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's why

          8  lawyers make so much money, right?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: I won't answer that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You don't have

         11  to.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         13  Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 This is actually an interesting

         17  discussion and I guess sort of begs the point that

         18  we should have more of these and be more in the open

         19  and transparent because it is an interesting

         20  discussion, and thank you for being here.

         21                 I just have a question about this

         22  trustee. I was going to ask it, Council Member Quinn

         23  picked up on it, but the Bank of New York I guess

         24  under this scenario or any bank is the trustee, but

         25  you're saying that legally the Comptroller could
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          2  not, under your scenario. What I'm going to ask is,

          3  I'm just thinking about it as a financial issue,

          4  does the Bank of New York take an administrative fee

          5  for their trusteeship?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: You'd have to look at

          7  the particular agreement, and I'm not sure that --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Each agreement

          9  would be different?

         10                 MR. McSPIRIT: There is one trustee

         11  agreement I believe with the Bank of New York, and

         12  we could ask EDC as to what the financial

         13  arrangements are with respect to that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         15                 The reason I ask is that, you know,

         16  if it was possible for the Comptroller to be a

         17  trustee, do you save money?

         18                 MR. McSPIRIT: Well, I think there are

         19  many banks that are on the approved list for all

         20  sorts of purposes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct.

         22                 But this is one if the Comptroller

         23  was able to do it --

         24                 MR. McSPIRIT: I don't have the

         25  answer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, so

          3  that's a question.

          4                 The second question I have is, the

          5  IDA Board, there's no advice and consent on the 14

          6  or 15 members; is that correct?

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not sure about that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Maybe you

          9  could let us know.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: In answer to your

         11  question, I just don't remember.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Because

         13  I'm just curious about those members.

         14                 And then another question is, this

         15  definition of City comes up quite a bit, Section 8

         16  of the Charter, is that something that I assume you

         17  wouldn't want to change the definition of City

         18  representing the Mayor; is that correct?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct. And

         20  this is what is known as the reserve power where

         21  Section 8 says, where it says City it means Mayor,

         22  unless otherwise provided, and there's a way to

         23  amend that by referendum.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         25                 So, I'm sure that as Ester Fuchs
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          2  proceeds in the current Charter, that maybe we could

          3  make that suggestion to her?

          4                 We can always make suggestions.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: You can always make

          6  suggestions.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right, I knew

          8  that was going to be your answer.

          9                 But, finally, it is ironic the WNYC

         10  radio now, I think it was great that it became a

         11  foundation from the perspective of the institution.

         12  It is ironic that now they are moving out of the

         13  municipal building to a new site to be determined

         14  and are looking for, you know, money.

         15                 So, I guess my question is, that's

         16  why this kind of discussion today is so important

         17  and why I would urge more transparency, how ever it

         18  is brought into the process.

         19                 I just noticed in Fiscal Year '04,

         20  there were one, two, three, four, five, six or so

         21  projects that were authorized under the current IDA

         22  process. Maybe more. That's what's listed here.

         23  Different numbers each year.

         24                 So, how, just generally how do those

         25  get projects get decided. It's an EDC mix and match,
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          2  I would say with a project that is PILOT'd, so to

          3  speak.

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, OMB and the IDA

          5  sit down and have a discussion, and they can make a

          6  judgment.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I'm just

          8  saying it's strange to me because here we sit as a

          9  Council with the different agencies over a very

         10  long, almost year-long period, trying to figure out

         11  expense and capital projects that either Reso A or

         12  the Administration can fund. Not to belabor the

         13  point, but the fact of the matter is, that kind of

         14  discussion would help perhaps in terms of moving the

         15  City along on a strong economic development foot,

         16  and I would hope that as we proceed, WNYC radio, you

         17  know, ironically would get some of that money in

         18  this kind of discussion.

         19                 I just throw this out because

         20  transparency, openness, change of discussion, et

         21  cetera, I think today sort of enlightens the process

         22  and shows the importance of having more than the

         23  Mayor's Office, with all due respect, involved.

         24                 No one person in this huge City, no

         25  one institution, can know the absolute best route.
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          2  So, it's more of a comment than a statement, but

          3  certainly there are a couple of questions that I

          4  would love to hear back from you regarding.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: Let me just answer one

          7  question you asked me, Ms. Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Sure.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Section 917, Subsection

         10  D of the IDA law spells out who is a member of the

         11  IDA Board, and I'm reading, to respond to your

         12  question, it says its membership shall be the City

         13  Comptroller, the City developer of EDC, which is

         14  now, I guess --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Mr. Alper.

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: President of EDC

         17  Corporation Counsel, Chairman of the City Planning

         18  Commission, and six of the remaining 11 members

         19  shall be appointed by the Mayor upon consultation

         20  with the Economic Development business and labor

         21  organizations, and five shall be appointed by the

         22  Mayor upon designation by the Borough Improvement

         23  Boards of such City, one member from each borough.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         25                 So, there's no advice and consent in
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          2  that --

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: That's right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I think you

          7  answered my question. Although, I'm not clear. I was

          8  going to ask you, and I meant to ask before, when

          9  you mentioned that the Mayor has pretty much control

         10  over 14 out of the 15 members, the other member is

         11  the Comptroller; is that the 15th?

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

         14                 Okay, the last questioner for this

         15  witness is Council Member Latitia James.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Cardozo.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: She's a full

         19  lawyer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But I haven't

         21  practiced in awhile.

         22                 I just wanted to clarify some of the

         23  issues, like most of the individuals who have left

         24  us, I sort of fell asleep for a minute or two, so

         25  allow me to restate the issues and sort of clarify
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          2  it in my mind.

          3                 Actually, I blinked. I didn't fall

          4  asleep.

          5                 The question is, the issue is

          6  basically whether PILOT payments constitute actual

          7  rights versus municipal revenue; does that

          8  succinctly describe the issue?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: I think that you could

         10  put it that way.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And for

         12  purposes of the General Municipal Law, Section 874,

         13  Subsection 3, the definition of affected tax

         14  jurisdiction, you refer basically to the City

         15  Charter, which in your interpretation defines the

         16  affected tax jurisdiction as the Mayor; correct?

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         19                 Buy it goes on to qualify it by

         20  stating unless otherwise provided, and unless

         21  otherwise provided one refers back to the City

         22  Charter which states that municipal revenues must be

         23  included in the general fund, yes?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: That's what that section

         25  says.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I know.

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: I think the jump that

          4  was just made --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The logic,

          6  right.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: -- Is, in fact, part of

          8  the issue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And let me ask

         10  you, the two cases that you cite, the LGAC case, as

         11  well as the Creole case, both of those cases don't

         12  stand for the proposition that PILOT payments are,

         13  constitute our revenue.

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm just using those

         15  cases by analogy.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: By analogy.

         17                 And let me also ask you, in 1998, the

         18  City Council authorized the Mayor of the City of New

         19  York, if I'm not mistaken, authorized the Mayor to

         20  sell the tobacco settlement funds for some capital

         21  projects?

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: Was that an

         23  authorization? I don't remember.

         24                 Mr. McSpirit?

         25                 MR. McSPIRIT: There was a local law
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          2  that was passed in connection with the tobacco

          3  securitization.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the tobacco

          5  securitization funds, if based upon your

          6  interpretation of the law, constitute personal

          7  property, constitute contractual rights, but yet

          8  there was authorization from this body, which

          9  allowed the Mayor to in fact sell.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, part of the

         11  question would be, would the analysis be different

         12  if there was not authorization.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: There was a judgment, or

         15  a settlement, that had been entered into and the

         16  payments were about to be made.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So in the

         18  absence of that authorization, that legislation, I

         19  guess it would be your opinion that the Mayor was

         20  authorized to do that notwithstanding?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         22                 MR. McSPIRIT: We had concluded that

         23  the Mayor could sell that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me also ask

         25  you, you know, I'm dealing with a stadium of my own
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          2  in Brooklyn. We don't get much attention but we're

          3  still fighting, and that, too, involves a PILOT

          4  payment. But I believe based upon my review of the

          5  MOU, it doesn't go through an IDA, it goes through a

          6  State entity. Based upon your opinion, that would be

          7  beyond the reach of the City Council, as well?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, if the State ESDC

          9  is involved, part of the analysis is certainly a

         10  different analysis.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the one

         12  case that you cite, the LGAC case, which stands for

         13  the proposition that future revenue streams can be

         14  assigned by the Mayor, again, we differ as to

         15  whether or not the PILOT payments constitute a

         16  contractual right, thereby making it a future

         17  revenue stream.

         18                 We disagree on that.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: I think we have

         20  disagreements. I'm not sure I want to specify on

         21  each case.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the second

         23  case where you cite the Creole case, again, it

         24  stands for the proposition that -- where is my cite?

         25  That the Mayor has the power to convey personal
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          2  property --

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: Well --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And we disagree

          5  as to whether or not PILOT payments constitute

          6  personal property.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: That case makes clear

          8  that the Mayor and the Mayor alone have the right to

          9  sell WNYC --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: And to sell it at less

         12  than what some thought to be full value.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: NYC was

         14  personal property, and there's a question as to

         15  whether or not PILOT payments constitute personal

         16  property.

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, I guess that's --

         18  we're back to our disagreement.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. So, now I

         20  could nap again. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I want to thank

         22  the Corporation Counsel for his patience of

         23  questioning and we appreciate you coming to testify

         24  today.

         25                 And obviously, if there's any
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          2  clarification we may have, I assume we can get a

          3  response in writing to that?

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes, you can.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We have a number

          9  of people that signed up to testify.

         10                 However, we did say when this hearing

         11  was announced that we were really going to limit

         12  testimony. One is it's going to be limited to the

         13  PILOT payment issue, not issues related to the

         14  Stadium pro or con.

         15                 And we also indicated that we were

         16  not going to hear from those individuals that we've

         17  already heard from at prior hearings.

         18                 So, what I'm going to do is, we have

         19  a couple of signed up speakers, the next one being

         20  the former Chairman of the MTA and the former

         21  Chairman of the Urban Development Corporation, and

         22  the former Chairman of a number of other agencies,

         23  the same individual, the distinguished Richard

         24  Ravitch, who had actually been here before to

         25  testify and had to leave at the prior hearing. So,
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          2  I'm going to take him next.

          3                 But what I'm going to ask is, and I

          4  think some of you have already been asked this, to

          5  put together a panel of six individual of black

          6  shirts and six individuals of green shirts, although

          7  it looks like the green shirts left. So, you know,

          8  the black shirts may have the say here. But if you

          9  can kind of do that after we hear from Mr. Ravitch

         10  and also Bonnie Brower, who had signed up earlier.

         11                 Mr. Ravitch, it gives us great

         12  pleasure to welcome you back into the City Council

         13  Chamber. I, for one, even though we don't agree on

         14  everything, I know the stadium is one issue we don't

         15  agree on, but I have the highest respect for your

         16  integrity, for your government experience and

         17  advice, which you've served our City as Chairman of

         18  the Charter Revision Commission as well, and of

         19  course our State, is head of MTA, head of the Urban

         20  Development Corporation, with great distinction, and

         21  it's a great honor to have you testify in this

         22  Chamber.

         23                 MR. RAVITCH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24  The feeling is mutual. I am not here in any capacity

         25  other than as former Chairman of the Charter
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          2  Revision Commission that was created after the

          3  courts determined that the Board of Estimate

          4  violated the one person one vote rule of the United

          5  States Constitution back in the 1980s, and I had the

          6  honor of being selected by Mayor Koch to be the

          7  Chairman of the Charter Revision Commission that had

          8  to conjure with what alternative structure of

          9  government ought to be put in place.

         10                 And though I no longer was chairman

         11  at the time that this ultimately went on the ballot,

         12  the proposition that was established during my

         13  tenure, Mr. Chairman, of the Charter Revision

         14  Commission, was that the City Council would have

         15  full power over the budget of the City of New York.

         16                 If anybody had suggested that the

         17  characterization of any source, particular source of

         18  revenue coming to the City of New York, was not

         19  within the power of the Legislative Branch of the

         20  government of the City of New York to treat in its

         21  budget deliberations and appropriate as it see fit,

         22  I don't think that anybody in the Charter Commission

         23  would have accepted that.

         24                 In fact, carefully looking at my

         25  notes, I don't recall that anybody suggested,
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          2  including of course anybody from the Executive

          3  Branch of government, that there should be excluded

          4  from the purview of the City Council any source of

          5  any revenue.

          6                 That is, of course, so consistent

          7  with the constitutional provisions that govern our

          8  federal government, and that with perhaps the

          9  notable exception of the issue that the State

         10  Legislature is now conjuring with in terms of a

         11  possible constitutional amendment, which has no

         12  bearing on the particular issue here, this concept

         13  of the power to tax and the power to appropriate

         14  being a function of the legislative body, obviously

         15  with the ultimate concurrence of the Executive, and

         16  even with the proposal power of the Executive, is an

         17  established principle of our government. And I think

         18  the laws of our State reflect that, and I think the

         19  laws of our City reflect that, and certainly though

         20  the Legislature or the Charter may not specifically

         21  exclude PILOT payments, if there was no possible

         22  interpretation of that Charter at any point in its

         23  history that would suggest that the PILOT payments,

         24  which are really real estate tax payments, you can

         25  call them anything you want but they are real estate
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          2  tax payments, should not fall into the general fund

          3  of the City of New York and be subject of the budget

          4  process of the City Council.

          5                 And I think the legislative history

          6  is so abundantly clear, and I think if this

          7  distinguished Council were interested, every member

          8  of the Charter Commission would confirm the

          9  testimony that I am offering you today.

         10                 I would like to add two other things,

         11  and be as brief as possible.

         12                 One is that, I do recall very

         13  vividly, because at the time I was chairman of UDC,

         14  the City did not have the power to do the kinds of

         15  transactions that result in what is now called PILOT

         16  payments. UDC was the only vehicle in 1975 that

         17  permitted that, and the subsequent creations of the

         18  entities that have been the subject, that will be

         19  the recipients of the so-called PILOT payments, were

         20  created in order to give the City the tools

         21  essentially to abate taxes in order to encourage the

         22  kind of economic development that was in the

         23  interest of the City that might not occur but for

         24  the fact that the developer or the owner or user of

         25  that property could not afford to pay full real
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          2  estate taxes. And obviously, the word PILOT means in

          3  lieu of taxes, but it is a tax, and I don't think

          4  anybody ever construed it in any fashion other than

          5  to be a characterization of a statutory basis for

          6  offering tax abatement for commercial development.

          7                 It was prior to the enactment of

          8  those statutes and the granting of that power to the

          9  City, the only tax abatements that were permissible

         10  were for residential development.

         11                 Second of all, I would like to add,

         12  and I hope you will forgive me if this sounds

         13  gratuitous, since obviously I feel strongly, and

         14  hopefully you will as well, at the conclusion of

         15  these hearings that you cannot permit the Executive

         16  to preempt your power to appropriate the tax

         17  revenues of the City of New York without you consent

         18  and approval.

         19                 I hope you will keep in mind the fact

         20  that when you approved the -- took the final step in

         21  the ULURP proceeding for the eastern part of this

         22  project, you did express in a resolution that you

         23  enacted at the time the support of the use of the

         24  Transitional Finance Authority to use its financial

         25  strength to support the issuance of debt by the
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          2  Hudson Yard Development Corporation.

          3                 Now, if you think about it for a

          4  minute, the use of TFA is theoretically subject to

          5  the cap, dollar cap that the State legislated, is a

          6  pledging or a commitment or hypothecation of all of

          7  the income tax revenue of the City of New York. And

          8  if that resolution, you should re -- I would

          9  respectfully suggest you should reexamine very

         10  carefully, because I do not believe that ultimately

         11  the courts will find that the use of TFA to support

         12  the debt of Hudson Yard Development Corporation is

         13  permissible.

         14                 And I furthermore think that the

         15  State Legislature, in creating TFA, made it

         16  abundantly clear that it was to be used only for

         17  those projects that went through the capital budget

         18  process of the City of New York, which includes, of

         19  course, the legislative body.

         20                 And I call this to your attention,

         21  only because the erosion of legislative authority

         22  over the budget deprives the people of an

         23  opportunity to review, in anybody whatsoever, the

         24  decision by the Executive Branch of government to

         25  use revenues.
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          2                 And I urge you to reexamine that

          3  resolution in light of that, and in light what will

          4  inevitably be the litigation that will surround the

          5  use of TFA in that instance.

          6                 I'd be glad to answer any questions,

          7  Mr. Chairman, that any of you may have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thanks. Just for

          9  clarification, I think in that resolution you

         10  referred to regarding the TFA, we also included that

         11  it would require a unanimous approval of the TFA,

         12  which normally would not be the case. So, we did.

         13                 Although we take cognizance of your

         14  recognition of the statute.

         15                 MR. RAVITCH: My legal skills aren't

         16  as sharply honed as most of yours are, but I'm not

         17  sure you have the power to amend the State law by

         18  requiring unanimous consent of the Board in that

         19  regard.

         20                 But in any event, I urge you to take

         21  a look at that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we

         23  certainly will. And as I mentioned, it's a pleasure

         24  for us to listen to your historical perspective,

         25  because you do have a tremendous historical
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          2  perspective, both of City and State government.

          3                 I'm going to turn over to my

          4  colleagues if they have any questions, because I

          5  know we have a number of other people waiting to

          6  testify, and I know you have a deadline of 3:30

          7  you'd like to be out.

          8                 Any questions?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I don't know

         10  how much of the Corporation Counsel's testimony you

         11  were here for, but a lot of the discussion focused

         12  around kind of when money became payments, and was

         13  it in the designation versus when we received them,

         14  and what was or wasn't real property in this

         15  context, and also whether the distinction between

         16  the governing body and the taxing jurisdiction.

         17                 And I was wondering if you could

         18  comment, one, on what you think the distinction is

         19  between governing body and taxing jurisdiction.

         20                 And then, two, what you reaction is

         21  to this kind of idea that prior to the payment is

         22  when the power can be influenced about where it's

         23  going to go?

         24                 MR. RAVITCH: As I said in my

         25  testimony, the payment in lieu of taxes to an
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          2  instrumentality of the City or of State law happens

          3  to require that the money be paid in, as in the TFA

          4  case, to a corporation created by the State, is

          5  still a tax revenue of the City of New York. And I

          6  don't think that the mechanism that was created with

          7  EDC and the power to negotiate with a developer on a

          8  form of tax abatement changes the nature of the

          9  revenue one iota.

         10                 And I would respectfully suggest that

         11  if you actually examine all of the payments that are

         12  coming in on all of the commercial tax abatements in

         13  the City of New York today, you would find that it's

         14  a very substantial amount of revenue, and including

         15  the first one, which is the Commodore Hotel, which

         16  to the best of my knowledge, still doesn't pay full

         17  real estate taxes, even though it's a great

         18  commercial success. But it pays taxes, and,

         19  therefore, in my judgment, there is no basis in law

         20  or legislative history of any of these statutes to

         21  indicate that because of the particular mechanism

         22  that was used, given the Constitution of the State

         23  of New York to enable these developments that

         24  presumably would not have gone ahead anyway, that

         25  the Executive Branch of government would have the
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          2  power to spend that money without going through the

          3  budget.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And just I want

          5  to kind of reiterate for the record, I mean as

          6  someone who was involved with drafting the Charter,

          7  which the people of the City of New York adopted in

          8  a referendum process, as how a very specific outline

          9  of how government was to exist and power was to be

         10  shared and distributed, it seems very clear that

         11  your position is that this is a power that those who

         12  drafted the Charter to be put before the voters

         13  wanted shared between the Executive and the

         14  Legislative body, that you did not, in any way,

         15  intend to give the Executive full authority over

         16  these types of funds?

         17                 MR. RAVITCH: Absolutely not. And as I

         18  said, nobody even suggested to the Commission in

         19  days and days and months of testimony, nor did

         20  anybody in the Corporation Counsel, ever suggest

         21  that that distinction be made, nor did the

         22  representatives of the Mayor in any capacity suggest

         23  there be a distinction between these types of

         24  revenues.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. And

          4  thank you, Mr. Ravitch, for coming, and it's always

          5  a pleasure to have you in this Chamber.

          6                 The next witness is Bonnie Brower

          7  from the City Project. Is she here?

          8                 MS. BROWER: Oh, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And then I will

         10  take the panel, I hope you agreed on it, of six

         11  members from the West Side community, to testify on

         12  their position on the PILOT payments.

         13                 MS. BROWER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         14  members -- member of the City Council, and staff.

         15                 I want to divert from my text to just

         16  hit on some of the points that came up during the

         17  Corporation Counsel's testimony.

         18                 I have to say that I was

         19  thunderstruck by the scope of the powers that Mr.

         20  Cardozo claims are legally authorized to the Mayor

         21  in terms of the disposition of City money.

         22                 I'm going to get to that in a minute.

         23  But I also think that one of the issues that was

         24  clearly unearthed by his testimony is the incredible

         25  indictment of the growing, free wheeling,
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          2  unaccountable, explosive powers of the so-called

          3  independent authorities, which we seem to create at

          4  the rate of about two a week, you know, there's now

          5  one for Governor's Island, there's one for -- all of

          6  which, all of which undercut the entire budget

          7  process, and the public review that that process

          8  premises.

          9                 I also want to say that the nature of

         10  Corp Counsel's testimony was so mind-boggling that

         11  it really was a great reason for why I quit law. But

         12  I do want to say that there's one part lawyer that's

         13  still left in me, and nobody seems to have said

         14  this, which is that no matter how you cut it,

         15  contract law is trumped by constitutional law. And

         16  assuming, which I don't agree, that the Corp

         17  Counsel's interpretation of a variety of statutes is

         18  accurate, which, again, I disagree with, then I

         19  would suggest that those statutes are all illegal.

         20  They are unconstitutional breaches of the separation

         21  of powers and of the delegation of the balance of

         22  powers, which form the two foundations of democratic

         23  government at every level of government in this

         24  country, from the feds on down to us.

         25                 Okay, I also want to suggest that
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          2  there are a number of other -- my testimony goes

          3  more specifically into why I think that the Charter,

          4  that 227-A of the Charter really trumps any argument

          5  that I didn't know the Corp Counsel was going to

          6  make but that he did make, but I also want to put it

          7  into a broader context because I think the issues

          8  that are confronting not just the Council, frankly,

          9  but the entire City of New York are getting sharper

         10  and sharper and need to be addressed sooner than

         11  later.

         12                 I personally believe that the Mayor's

         13  attempt to usurp the power to control and spend

         14  PILOTs outside of the budget process, that would

         15  require a Charter Revision, and if he ever tried to

         16  get one, it would be deemed unconstitutional.

         17                 There are other compelling policy

         18  reasons why his interpretation needs to be

         19  unequivocally rejected. I want to say first that the

         20  biggest damage it does, with all due respect to the

         21  importance of the Council is that it would be a

         22  complete violation of the principles of democratic

         23  participatory budgeting, budget transparency and

         24  budget accountability, which are not only I think

         25  Charter mandated, but also constitute best budget
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          2  practices that are now widely held in practice

          3  outside of New York City.

          4                 Secondly, that as you know, a growing

          5  percentage of the City's budget is being basically

          6  decided outside of the budget process.  In addition

          7  to the one or so billion that you've identified that

          8  the Mayor now may claim control of, there is the 7.7

          9  billion in property tax exemptions that City Project

         10  has reported on.

         11                 There is also, of course, the

         12  incredible growth in non-discretionary spending.

         13  These two pieces alone off budget expenditures and

         14  non -- no control over non-discretionary

         15  expenditures, are really shrinking the people of New

         16  York's ability to set their own budget priorities

         17  every year.

         18                 To say that the Mayor can take

         19  another pot of money out of the fast-shrinking pot

         20  that we should have control over is I think not only

         21  illegal but unconscionable.

         22                 And lastly, I just want to mention

         23  that the 2008 expiration of the Financial Emergency

         24  Control Act and the Financial Control Board, there's

         25  a Charter Revision Commission currently meeting,
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          2  which according to my information, plans to focus on

          3  just the mechanisms for continuing fiscal oversight,

          4  and fiscal responsibility. I find it highly ironic

          5  that the Mayor at the same time is claiming an

          6  unfettered, unreviewable spending authority over a

          7  large and growing pot of money that would, of course

          8  undercut that fiscal responsibility. I would also

          9  mention that we believe that the Charter Commission,

         10  and if not them, someone else, should be looking at

         11  better ways of budgeting which the Council has

         12  proposed in part in its response to the Preliminary

         13  Budget. For example, programmatic budgeting would be

         14  a good start. But that's for another issue.

         15                 I personally believe that it would

         16  not only be appropriate but absolutely warranted for

         17  the Council to seek a declaratory judgment now, in

         18  terms of not to wait to pass a law -- well, pass

         19  your law for sure. Pass the law and then go into

         20  Court. Don't wait for the Mayor to sue you, go into

         21  court and seek to get a judgment that you are simply

         22  reenacting powers that already exist, you are simply

         23  restating them and also expanding disclosure

         24  requirements.

         25                 I personally think that the
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          2  disclosure would be unnecessary if your powers were

          3  upheld, because he wouldn't have any money to spend

          4  outside of the budget process, at least through

          5  PILOTs.

          6                 But I want to really plant the

          7  notion, urge, beg, whatever, that you should take

          8  the initiative on behalf of the people of the City

          9  of New York. The Mayor's budget powers are near

         10  imperial to begin with, they cannot be expanded any

         11  further. It's a complete breach of separation of

         12  powers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         14  Brower. And I want to also thank you for your

         15  constant --

         16                 MS. BROWER: Nagging?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, not nagging.

         18  But your constant providing of new ideas as the

         19  budget process goes on, especially in tough fiscal

         20  times that we went through in the last couple of

         21  years, and a number of your suggestions that you put

         22  in various white papers were incorporated into our

         23  budget responses over the years.

         24                 MS. BROWER: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And it's very
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          2  much appreciated.

          3                 MS. BROWER: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          5  Quinn, did you have a question?

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 We'll now hear from the panel of six,

          8  black shirts, or their colleagues?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: We'll take six

         10  on this panel. So, if two other people who had been

         11  pre -- Danielle, would you indicate who was

         12  prescheduled to them?

         13                 If the Sergeant could bring over two

         14  more chairs, that would be great. If not, we can

         15  stop at four.

         16                 Okay, why don't you all just get

         17  started, and if two more people decide, then that's

         18  fine.

         19                 MS. RUNE: Okay, great. Hello. My name

         20  is Madeline Rune. And I just wanted to say that I

         21  had so much to say, but after what Ms. Brower said,

         22  how can you possibly top that? But I'm going to try.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         24                 MS. RUNE: I simply want to say that

         25  Mayor Bloomberg has taken the word of epnipotent and
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          2  just capitalized every single letter. It is

          3  frightening to see that this man has the power and

          4  attempts, more than attempts, has actually used this

          5  power in more ways than you could possibly know.

          6                 I am a magician. My name is Madeleine

          7  The Magician, and I hear things that normally you

          8  don't hear. Of the mouths of babes many times things

          9  are said, and lots of people have reported to me

         10  things that they could not report in fear of their

         11  jobs.

         12                 But the point is this, is the City

         13  Council needs to take back the power, and I think

         14  the best way that the power could be taken back is

         15  by shooting to the top and going for a referendum.

         16  If that's what needs to be, don't wait, because this

         17  Mayor is already working on something, and my

         18  suggestion is, is to do what is ever necessary to

         19  make that happen, because that would make everything

         20  else go away.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I have bad news

         22  for you.

         23                 MS. RUNE: Ut-oh.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Which is not

         25  just this Mayor, any mayor, has the power in the
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          2  Charter that whatever, if the Council or somebody

          3  put a Charter question, a referendum on the ballot,

          4  if the Mayor convenes a Charter Revision Commission

          5  and puts something else on the ballot, it knocks all

          6  over things off.

          7                 MS. RUNE: Simple question: Why?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: State law.

          9                 MS. RUNE: Okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sorry.

         11                 MS. RUNE: Me too.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes. I just

         13  didn't want us to have expectations that weren't

         14  going to work out.

         15                 MS. RUNE: Then we need to go the

         16  route that we were just informed about. Because

         17  that's something that I was totally unaware of.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         19                 MS. RUNE: You're welcome.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You can stay if

         21  you want.

         22                 MS. ORUM: She's switching places.

         23                 Hi. I'm Shyama Orum. I live at 305

         24  West 28th Street, and I support the Council's right

         25  to the oversight of the PILOT, because the democracy
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          2  that I live in was based on the principal that

          3  taxation without representation is tyranny and

          4  PILOTs, regardless of all of this legalees, are

          5  taxation. And as citizens we have the right for our

          6  representatives to oversee the spending of our

          7  taxes. All the flim-flam that I heard today doesn't

          8  cancel my rights as a citizen, and I'm calling upon

          9  the City Council to uphold what we see on this

         10  plaque above, "A government of the people, by the

         11  people, and for the people, because I'm convinced if

         12  this Mayor gets control of PILOT funds, we will not

         13  have a government that represents us.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Go ahead.

         18                 MS. MILLS: My name is Gloria Mills.

         19  I'm a retired nurse, and I live on West 53rd Street

         20  in Hell's Kitchen. Millions have died for democracy.

         21  Millions have and are dying in exporting democracy.

         22  However, on November 15th, 2004, Deputy Mayor

         23  Doctoroff said that the City could not vote on the

         24  West Side 575,000 capacity stadium because it would

         25  take too much time.
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          2                 Would it take too much time to honor

          3  the past, the present and the future advocates of

          4  democracy by voting on an issue that concerns lives

          5  and billions of dollars?

          6                 Would it take too much time to

          7  consider the impact on our neighborhood and in

          8  Manhattan - increased taxes, increased density,

          9  increased pollution, increased noise pollution,

         10  increased respiratory problems, increased safety

         11  problems, increased environmental havoc in

         12  Manhattan, increased absence of peace?

         13                 Would it take too much time to

         14  establish that democracy does have at least an equal

         15  role with buckocracy (sic).  Democracy versus

         16  buckocracy. Would it take too much time to consider

         17  that 75,000 people in a concentrated area might make

         18  a very, very welcome mat to terrorists?

         19                 Citizens and Council people have the

         20  right and the obligation to vote. I suggest the next

         21  time the Mayor and Mr. Doctoroff come in to this

         22  room they look at the sign, you point up there, "A

         23  government of the people, by the people, and for the

         24  people," not by one person.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If the light is

          4  off, the mic is on.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It's a City

          6  Council thing.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes.

          8                 MS. CULLIMORE: Hi. My name is Terri

          9  Cullimore, and I live in the Chelsea neighborhood.

         10  And if I heard correctly today, my head is swimming,

         11  I will admit it, but I was glad to hear that the

         12  heads of some of the lawyers here also, their heads

         13  are swimming too. So, that makes me feel really

         14  good.

         15                 I didn't hear about democracy today.

         16  And I, too, I've been coming to these Council

         17  meetings in opposition to the Jets Stadium for the

         18  past year, and it's been a really wonderful

         19  education. And every time I sit down and take a

         20  seat, I also look up and see that, a government by

         21  the people, it's already been stated, and it reminds

         22  me of grade school. That's what I learned in grade

         23  school, and that's what I heard in grade school. So,

         24  I still need to have faith and hope that this will

         25  continue. Because when I heard that in a contract,
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          2  quote, the City is the Mayor, I felt like King -- I

          3  thought about King George, III. I mean, we got away

          4  from that country, where everything was just, as

          5  somebody said, taxation without representation.

          6                 And did you say, Councilman Quinn,

          7  that it's up now, if there's to be a change about

          8  who decides it has to be changed by the State?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, no. I was

         10  talking about how -- one of the other witnesses

         11  referenced that maybe we should go immediately to

         12  putting a question on the ballot, a referendum, and

         13  what I just said was how the process works,

         14  vis-a-vis the Mayor's power with referenda, which is

         15  pretty extreme, the Mayor's power and his ability to

         16  keep things off the ballot.

         17                 So, if that was to be changed, that

         18  would be State law. That was all I was referencing.

         19                 MS. CULLIMORE: Because I did hear a

         20  lot of imperialism today. And you know, we're a

         21  country that we criticize other countries for their

         22  imperialism, and right here in this great big

         23  wonderful City, I heard imperialism.

         24                 So, you as Council people who

         25  represent all the districts in this wonderful City,
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          2  you are so important. I mean, you're our backbone.

          3  You're our meat and potatoes. We need you. We don't

          4  need one person. And it happens, and it just so

          5  happens in this case, the Mayor is a billionaire,

          6  you know, okay, giving away to another billionaire

          7  group, the owners of the Jets Stadium. Oh, my God.

          8  That's horrible, horrible, horrible. Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         11  by Council Member Robert Jackson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Rejoined.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Rejoined.

         14  Rejoined.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And if the back

         16  row wants to move to the front row, that would be

         17  great.

         18                 MS. COTI: I'm Edaie Coti, from London

         19  Terrace in the Chelsea area, and Christine is my

         20  neighbor. And I just want to -- well, I don't know

         21  if I can say it any better than what's been said,

         22  but this was quite an experience today and you just

         23  don't have faith in your government when people can

         24  manipulate you this way, and we really need you

         25  people to stand up for us. We really do.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you for

          3  coming.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Edaie, I just

          5  wanted to thank you for coming and say that, you

          6  know, I think today can be very hard for someone

          7  from the public to hear. I mean, for all of us it

          8  becomes more of a technical, you know, matter. And

          9  we're in a technical argument, but I know it's very

         10  different when you're a member of the public because

         11  it's literally about your neighborhood, your home,

         12  where you live.

         13                 And one thing I would just say to

         14  calm people's fears and give them a little hope in

         15  the governmental process if they're feeling a little

         16  hopeless after today's discussion, is that, you

         17  know, it's quite remarkable given how heated the

         18  debate is about the Stadium, and although this bill

         19  is about a lot more than that, 34 members of the

         20  City Council are sponsors of this bill, including

         21  people who, you know, for their own very valid

         22  reasons think the Stadium would be a good thing.

         23                 So, I think you should take from that

         24  something that is reaffirming about the power and

         25  the vision of the City Council that people are able

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  to disagree but yet agree about the importance of

          3  democracy. And I think, you know, in fact,

          4  Chairperson Weprin is one of the folks very involved

          5  in this bill, speaks to the importance of democracy

          6  in our budget process.

          7                 MS. COTI: Yes. I'm sorry, I did get

          8  emotional.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, no, don't

         10  apologize. Emotion is a good thing.

         11                 MS. COTI: Yes. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         13                 The light should be off.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The light is

         15  off.

         16                 MS. HANCOCK: Got it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: There you go.

         18                 MS. HANCOCK: Thanks.

         19                 I just want to say that I'm very

         20  grateful --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Just give your

         22  name, please.

         23                 MS. HANCOCK: Oh, I'm sorry.

         24                 My name is Caroline Hancock. I live

         25  on the Lower East Side. I used to live on the West
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          2  Side, but since rent control was abolished, I had a

          3  hard time staying there.

          4                 And I just want to say that I think

          5  it's really crucial that the City Council maintain

          6  its control over the revenues of the City of New

          7  York.

          8                 And I would hope that once that gets

          9  accomplished, that you would pay very, very close

         10  attention to low-income housing and the destruction

         11  of neighborhoods by very wealthy people. And I think

         12  that it's important for every piece of New York City

         13  to have low-income apartments that people can live

         14  in. And I thank you very much for doing what you're

         15  doing.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you for

         18  coming.

         19                 Are there any union members that are

         20  left that want to testify? Speak now.

         21                 Okay, the black shirts win today.

         22                 Dan Golub from Assemblyman Richard

         23  Gottfried's office, if you could come up.

         24                 And, again, please try to confine

         25  your testimony to the PILOT legislation.
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          2                 MR. GOLUB: I'm capable. I'm just

          3  going to read excerpts of the testimony that the

          4  Assemblyman would like to deliver. He is traveling

          5  today. He's actually in Tokyo and on his way back,

          6  but he wanted to thank you for the opportunity. And

          7  before, I'd just like to say, it's sort of following

          8  up on what Ms. Brower said, if you thought that

          9  this, to make the argument that this power is in the

         10  statute, since it's such a radical diversion from

         11  the way that every government works and that every

         12  separation of powers at every level of government

         13  works, you would expect that to be extremely

         14  explicit in the statute, if that were the intent of

         15  the statute.

         16                 It wouldn't take you an hour to

         17  understand the legal argument behind it, because it

         18  would have been very explicit if that was the

         19  intent, and it also never would have been passed

         20  into law, had it been explicitly in the statute.

         21                 So, the Assemblyman would like to --

         22  I'll submit this for the record, but the Assemblyman

         23  would like to commend the Speaker and the

         24  co-sponsors of Intro. 584, which would affirm that

         25  the Mayor may not unilaterally use money the City
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          2  collects as PILOTs without the consent of the

          3  Council.

          4                 The bill would require the

          5  Administration to make a monthly report of the

          6  collection and use of all PILOTs, something for

          7  which good government organizations, such as the

          8  Fiscal Policy Institute and Good Jobs New York have

          9  long advocated. This is common sense legislation

         10  that deserves swift passage.

         11                 If the Mayor can raise and spend

         12  hundreds of millions of dollars without going

         13  through the Council budget process, then we do not

         14  have the sort of democracy in this City that we

         15  think we do.

         16                 This legislation is not adopted.

         17  Mayors will continue to spend City money on projects

         18  without the approval of the City Council. A

         19  legislature without the power of the purse strings

         20  is severely diminished.

         21                 The Council must demand that all

         22  these expenses, including the Stadium, be submitted

         23  to the Council for approval as part of the City's

         24  capital budget.

         25                 The Mayor claims that State law gives
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          2  him the power to direct PILOTs without the consent

          3  of the Council, but until today he had refused to

          4  explain his legal reasoning.

          5                 This is wrong. The intent of existing

          6  State law is that PILOTs be deposited in the City

          7  treasury and be subject of the fiscal authority of

          8  the City Council.

          9                 Nothing in State law gives the Mayor

         10  the power to evade the City Council in the spending

         11  of City money. But since he persists in these

         12  financing schemes, Senator Tom Duane and I have

         13  introduced legislation that will stop him from

         14  spending City money on the West Side Stadium without

         15  the consent of the City Council.

         16                 It's worth pointing out, however,

         17  that we feel this bill only reinforces the existing

         18  intent of City law -- of State law, which is that

         19  City revenue, including PILOTs, is subject to the

         20  authority of the City Council.

         21                 Our legislation supports Intro. 584's

         22  efforts on the City level to stop the Mayor's

         23  end-run around the democratic process.

         24                 Spending hundreds of millions of

         25  dollars of City money without the approval of the
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          2  legislative body is an assault in the system of

          3  checks and balances upon which our democracy is

          4  built. Whether you support or oppose the Stadium,

          5  every Council member who values his or her role in

          6  the City's budget-making process should support this

          7  legislation.

          8                 I urge that it be passed as quickly

          9  as possible, and thank you for the opportunity to

         10  testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Golub. And send our best to Assemblyman Gottfried,

         13  the dean of the State Assembly.

         14                 MR. GOLUB: Thanks very much.

         15                 Is there anybody else that would like

         16  to testify that has not already testified either

         17  today or at a previous hearing?

         18                 Seeing none, I'm now going to adjourn

         19  this hearing of the Finance Committee.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 3:55 p.m.)
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